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Company Combined management report

The Lufthansa Group

COMPANY

Consolidated financial statements

m The Lufthansa Group is an aviation group
with operations worldwide.

m [t consists of the business segments Passenger
Airlines, Logistics and MRO, as well as
Additional Businesses and Group Functions.

Key performance indicators for 2023
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KEY FIGURES LUFTHANSA GROUP

KEY FIGURES LUFTHANSA GROUP

2023 2022 Change 2023 2022 Change
in % in %
Revenue and result” Lufthansa share
Total revenue €m 35,442 30,895 15 Share price at year-end € 8.05 7.77 4
of which traffic revenue €m 29,926 25,864 16 Earnings per share € 1.40 0.66 12
Total operating income €m 38,429 33,268 16 Suggested dividend per
Operating expenses €m 35,960 31,771 13 share € 0.30 -
Adjusted EBITDA? €m 4,910 3,719 32 Traffic figures and
Adjusted EBIT? em 2,682 1,520 76 environmental data®
EBIT £m 2,669 1,419 88 Number of flights number 946,132 826,603 14
Net profit/loss €m 1,673 791 12 Passengers thou-
sands 122,535 101,775 20
Key balance sheet and cash Available Seat-kilometres millions 300,582 259,428 16
flow statement figures - o
Revenue Seat-kilometres millions 249,269 207,030 20
Total assets £€m 45,321 43,335 5
Passenger load factor % 82.9 79.8 3.1 pts
Equity ratio % 21.4 19.6 1.8 pts. -
- Available cargo
Net indebtedness €m 5,682 6,871 ~7_ tonne-kilometres millions 15,497 14,194 9
Net pension obligations €m 2,676 1,993 34 Revenue cargo
Ratio of net indebted- tonne-kilometres millions 8,735 8,562 2
ness + net pension Cargo load factor % 56.4 60.3 -39 pts
obligations to equity Ratio 46:54 51:49 — —
Specific CO, emissions grammes 88.4 0.0 -2
Operating cash flow €m 4,945 5,168 -4
Capital expenditure Employees
(gross)? €m 3,576 2,379 50 Employees as of 31 Dec number 96,677 109,509 -12
Capital expenditure (net) €m 2,81 2,286 23 Average number of
Adjusted free cash flow? €m 1,846 2,526 -27 employees number 110,264 106,889 3
Key profitability and value U Previous year’s figures adjusted due to sale of LSG group.
creation figures " Financial performance, p. 40, Notes to the consolidated financial state-
Adjusted EBITDA margin? % 13.9 12.0 19 pts ments, p. 165.
- 2 Derivati Fi ial strat lue- t, p. 2.
Adjusted EBIT margin® % 76 290 27 pts .envat'uon inancial strategy and value-based management, p. 23,
Financial performance, p. 40.
EBIT margin % 7.5 4.6 29 pts 3 Without acquisition of equity investments.
Adjusted ROCE? % 131 7.6 5.5 pts 4 Previous year's figures adjusted.

Date of publication: 7 March 2024.
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Key figures
KEY FIGURES PASSENGER AIRLINES KEY FIGURES LOGISTICS KEY FIGURES MRO
2023 Change in % 2023 Change in % 2023 Change in %
Revenue €m 28,337 25 Revenue €m 2977 -36 Revenue €m 6,547 18
of which traffic revenue €m 26,701 29 of which traffic revenue €m 2,775 -37 of which external revenue €m 4,389 10
Adjusted EBIT €m 2,033 Adjusted EBIT €m 219 -86 Adjusted EBIT €m 628 13
Adjusted EBIT margin % 7.2 8.5 pts Adjusted EBIT margin % 7.4 -27.2 pts Adjusted EBIT margin % 9.6 -0.4 pts
Adjusted ROCE % 19.4 22.2 pts Adjusted ROCE % 7.3 -469 pts Adjusted ROCE % 12.0 0.6 pts
Segment capital expenditure €m 3,095 52 Segment capital expenditure €m 191 -25 Segment capital expenditure €m 137 38
Employees as of 31 Dec number 60,924 7 Employees as of 31 Dec number 4152 2 Employees as of 31 Dec number 22,870 12

The Passenger Airlines segment comprises the network airlines
Lufthansa Airlines, SWISS, Austrian Airlines and Brussels
Airlines - which offer their customers a premium experience,
with high-quality products and services - as well as Eurowings,
which is positioned as a value carrier focusing exclusively on
point-to-point traffic on European short- and medium-haul

routes.

In addition to Lufthansa Cargo AG, the Logistics segment

includes the airfreight container management specialist Jettainer

group, the time:matters Group, which specialises in particularly
urgent shipments, the subsidiary Heyworld, which specialises in
tailored solutions for the e-commerce sector, CB Customs
Broker, the customs and customs clearance specialist, and the
Lufthansa Group's 50% stake in the cargo airline AerolLogic.

Lufthansa Technik is the world’s leading manufacturer-inde-

pendent provider of maintenance, repair and overhaul services

(MRO) for civilian commercial aircraft. Lufthansa Technik AG

serves more than 800 customers worldwide, including OEMs,
aircraft leasing companies, operators of VIP jets, governments
and armed forces, as well as airlines.
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The Executive Board

Deutsche Lufthansa AG

THE EXECUTIVE BOARD

Carsten Spohr

Chairman of the Executive Board

Born in 1966, industrial engineer,

Chairman of the Executive Board since 1 May 2014,
Executive Board member since 2011,

with the Lufthansa Group since 1994

Christina Foerster

Brand & Sustainability

Born in 1971, MBA,

Executive Board member since 2020,
with the Lufthansa Group since 2002

Further information

LUFTHANSA GROUP ANNUAL REPORT 2023

Harry Hohmeister

Global Markets & Network

Born in 1964, diploma in commercial air transport,
Executive Board member since 2013,

with the Lufthansa Group since 1985
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The Executive Board

Michael Niggemann
Human Resources & Infrastructure, Labor Director
Born in 1974, lawyer,

Detlef Kayser Executive Board member since 2020,

Fleet & Technology with the Lufthansa Group since 2007

Born in 1965, aerospace engineer, Remco Steenbergen

Executive Board member since 2019, Finance

with the Lufthansa Group since 2016 Born in 1968, MBA, RegisterAccountant,

Executive Board member since 2021,
with the Lufthansa Group since 2021
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Letter from the
Executive Board

Letter from the Executive Board
L adies and
gentlemen,

dear shareholders,

2023 was one of the best years for the Lufthansa Group in
economic terms. The recovery in demand for flights after the
coronavirus pandemic continued. Tourist travel was in great
demand, particularly in the summer months, and we expanded
our capacities again, especially to leisure travel destinations.
Overall, in the past year we once again welcomed more than
120 million passengers on board our aircraft and flew them
safely to their destinations.

For the first time, all our airlines were profitable. SWISS,
Austrian Airlines, Brussels Airlines and Eurowings reported
record results. The increase in the number of flights across the
industry resulted in significantly higher demand for mainte-
nance and repair services and so enabled Lufthansa Technik
to post record earnings. Only the Logistics business segment
saw a decline in earnings due to normalisation across the
industry following the coronavirus-related economic upswing.

Overall, the Lufthansa Group’s earnings improved significantly
compared with a year ago. Adjusted EBIT increased to around
EUR 2.7bn. This means we have achieved the third-best result
in the company’s history. With an Adjusted ROCE of more
than 13%, we were able to exceed the target of a return on
capital of over 10%. We want to enable our shareholders to
participate in this success and will table a proposal at the
Annual General Meeting to pay a dividend of EUR 0.30 per share.

Strengthening our balance sheet was an important condition
for this. We were able to reduce our debt significantly again in
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Letter from the
Executive Board

the financial year 2023. It is now around EUR 1bn below the
pre-crisis level of the year 2019 at EUR 5.7bn. Available
liquidity is significantly higher. We are therefore in a much
more stable position to tackle future challenges. Our positive
performance has been acknowledged by the capital markets:
All the leading rating agencies now give the Lufthansa Group
an investment grade rating.

We continued to pursue our transition from an aviation group
to a global airline group at high speed in 2023. We sold the
catering business at the end of October. The sale of AirPlus,

our payment specialist, is expected to close in summer 2024.

This will enable us to focus even more sharply on our core
business: our airlines. Our newly founded Lufthansa City
Airlines will enable us to increase the profitability of our
short-haul route network and seize growth opportunities.

In addition, we agreed with Italy’s Ministry of Economy and
Finance on the acquisition of a non-controlling interest in
the country’s national airline ITA Airways. We are in intensive
discussions, particularly with the European Commission,

to get the transaction approved in the current year.

Looking at the performance we delivered to our customers,
the assessment of the year 2023 is not wholly positive.

We were able to improve operational stability significantly
compared with the previous year. However, especially in the
summer months, we did not always attain the level of quality
and punctuality that we strive for and that our passengers
rightly expect from us.

Consolidated financial statements
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So for the financial year 2024 it is our declared goal to live up
to our premium standards across our business and to fulfil
our quality promise to our passengers. We have launched a
product and service offensive to this end, and as part of the
biggest fleet modernisation programme in our history we are
expecting the delivery of at least 30 new aircraft in 2024.

With our new cabin products, Allegris at Lufthansa Airlines
and SWISS Senses at SWISS, we are again setting premium
standards in the industry. We are expecting our first long-haul
aircraft with the new Allegris cabin on board in time for the
summer of 2024. We will be welcoming a new aircraft into our
fleet every ten days on average in 2024. In the financial year
2023, we ordered a further 22 long-haul aircraft, as well as
80 short- and medium-haul aircraft. This means our

order book now comprises firm orders for some 250 of the
latest-generation aircraft - for more comfort for our passen-
gers and lower emissions.

Our ambitious climate goals call for net-zero carbon emissions
by 2050; by 2030, we intend to already halve our net carbon
emissions relative to their 2019 level. In addition to our fleet
renewal, we are increasingly making use of sustainable avia-
tion fuels and working closely with partners in research and
industry to drive their developments. We are also continuously
optimising our existing fleets. Fifteen Boeing 777 aircraft with
the AeroSHARK foil developed by Lufthansa Technik and
BASF are already in service. This innovative surface technol-
ogy reduces air resistance and carbon emissions as a result.

LUFTHANSA GROUP ANNUAL REPORT 2023

Despite all the necessary change, there is one thing we
stand by:

CONNECTING PEOPLE, CULTURES AND
ECONOMIES IN A SUSTAINABLE WAY.

That is our purpose and also the title of this year’s annual
report.

Our airlines operate 4,000 flights every day to more than

300 destinations in around 100 countries. We connect
families, friends and business partners, contribute to social
interactions, prosperity and international understanding, and
secure production and supply chains. Every day we bring the
world a little closer together, create opportunities for dialogue
and cross-border cooperation.

Cultural exchanges and corporate culture are a vital element
of both our commercial success and the engagement and
well-being of our employees. Our cultural programme pro-
motes the individual identities of our companies and strength-
ens our cultural understanding of ourselves as a group at the
same time - with diversity in all its dimensions as a central
pillar of our cultural identity.

Together we intend to continue the Company’s positive
development - for the benefit of our passengers, employees
and shareholders. Despite the challenging environment, which
is dominated by geopolitical uncertainties, economic volatility
and persistently high inflation, our aim is to maintain last year's
earnings level. We are pleased that you are accompanying us

on our journey.

Frankfurt, February 2024

Carsten Spohr
Chairman of the Executive Board
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Report of the
Supervisory Board
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Report of the Supervisory Board
L adies and
gentlemen,

dear shareholders,

2023 represented an upturn for the Lufthansa Group in many
respects. Right from the start of the year our bookings
showed that our customers had rediscovered their need to
travel. It was gratifying that this trend continued over the
course of the year. In the summer, it enabled the Lufthansa
Group to generate the most revenue in its history. In 2023 we
were able to take a great stride towards our target of an
Adjusted EBIT margin of at least 8%. At the same time,
Adjusted free cash flow was again significantly positive. We
continued to implement our strategy of focusing even more
on the core airline business with the sale of the LSG Group
and the agreed sale of Lufthansa AirPlus Servicekarten GmbH.
The agreement to acquire shares in ITA Airways was also in
the spirit of this strategic focus.

In the 2023 financial year, the Supervisory Board once again
oversaw the work of the Executive Board members and
advised them. It carried out the duties conferred on it by
statute, the Company’s Articles of Association and its internal
regulations. The Executive Board regularly provided the
Supervisory Board with full information on the course of
business, the competitive environment, planned Company
policy and significant strategic and operational decisions. In
particular, it provided reports on the Company’s economic
position and on the operational challenges. Throughout the
year, the Executive Board provided the Supervisory Board with
reports on the current course of business. As Chairman of the
Supervisory Board, | read the minutes of the Executive Board
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Report of the
Supervisory Board

meetings and discussed the current situation and the course
of business with the Chairman of the Executive Board and
other members of the Executive Board on an ongoing basis.

In 2023, the Supervisory Board held a total of six meetings;
four ordinary and two extraordinary meetings. At its plenary
sessions and committee meetings, the Supervisory Board had
sufficient opportunity to discuss the reports and proposals for
resolutions from the Executive Board. When doing so, the
Supervisory Board and its committees also met without the
members of the Executive Board.

Key topics discussed by the Supervisory Board

Our meetings focused on the economic development of
Deutsche Lufthansa AG and its associated companies.
Regular agenda items in particular included the ongoing oper-
ational challenges and the general competitive environment.
In addition, the Supervisory Board dealt with the Lufthansa
Group's various M&A activities. In this context the Supervisory
Board approved by circulation of documents the sale of all
the remaining LSG Group businesses to the private equity
investor Aurelius in early April 2023. At an extraordinary
meeting on 22 May 2023, the Supervisory Board also
approved the acquisition of 41% of the shares in ITA Airways
and options to purchase the remaining shares in ITA Airways.
In June 2023, the Supervisory Board also approved by circu-
lar resolution the sale of all the shares in Lufthansa AirPlus
Servicekarten GmbH to SEB Kort Bank AG from Stockholm,
Sweden.

At its meeting on 2 March 2023 the Supervisory Board
approved the purchase of up to 30 of the latest generation of
wide-bodied aircraft from manufacturers Airbus and Boeing.
At the same meeting, the Supervisory Board also approved
new leases for up to four and lease extensions for two Airbus
A350-900 wide-bodied aircraft.

Consolidated financial statements
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The Supervisory Board also approved capital expenditure in
non-current assets as part of the modernisation of the Lufthansa
Cargo Center in Frankfurt at its meeting on 9 May 2023.

The meeting on 22 September 2023, which took place in Vienna,
was dedicated to the Group’s ongoing strategic development,
which was discussed in detail with the Executive Board. The
corporate strategy was updated on this basis and approved at
the Supervisory Board meeting on 5 December 2023.

The Supervisory Board also noted the planning status of the
budget for 2024 and approved the medium-term financial
planning for 2025 to 2027 at its meeting held on 5 December
2023. At this meeting, the Supervisory Board also discussed
reports on risk management including internal control systems,
cybersecurity and compliance. The Supervisory Board also
reviewed the Executive Board’s remuneration at this meeting
and found it to be appropriate.

At this meeting the Supervisory Board also noted the
Executive Board’s decision to abandon the negotiations for
a partial disposal of Lufthansa Technik AG and discussed
the implications for future M&A processes and for the future
development of Lufthansa Technik AG.

At the end of the year, the Supervisory Board approved by
circular resolution on 19 December 2023 the purchase in par-
ticular of 40 Airbus A220-300s and 40 Boeing 737-8 MAXs.

Changes in the Executive Board

At its meeting held on 2 March 2023, the Supervisory Board
reappointed Carsten Spohr as CEO and Chair of the Executive
Board of Deutsche Lufthansa AG, as well as Remco Steenbergen
as CFO and member of the Executive Board, in each case as of
1 January 2024 for a five-year term expiring 31 December 2028.

LUFTHANSA GROUP ANNUAL REPORT 2023

Wide-ranging reorganisation of the Executive Board
decided from July 2024

At its meeting on 22 February 2024, the Supervisory Board
of Deutsche Lufthansa AG followed a recommendation of
its Steering Committee and voted to carry out a wide-ranging
reorganisation of the Executive Board. It approved the
corresponding changes to the division of responsibilities for
the Executive Board with effect from 1 July 2024. These
consisted mainly of reducing the Executive Board from six
members to five and reorganising responsibilities.

As part of this reorganisation, Christina Foerster, Harry
Hohmeister and Detlef Kayser will leave the Executive Board as
of 30 June 2024, and Remco Steenbergen will leave the
Executive Board at the close of 7 May 2024, the date of the
2024 Annual General Meeting. The Supervisory Board thanks
the departing Executive Board members for their commitment,
their performance and their outstanding loyalty.

At the recommendation of the Steering Committee, the Super-
visory Board appointed Grazia Vittadini and Dieter Vranckx
to the Executive Board with effect from 1 July 2024 for a term
of three years, ending on 30 June 2027. Grazia Vittadini will
be responsible for the MRO & IT function and Dieter Vranckx
for Global Markets and Commercial Hub Management.

A new candidate is to be found for the position of Chief Financial
Officer in the course of 2024. After the departure of Remco
Steenbergen until a new appointment is made, Michael
Niggemann will lead the Finance function in addition to his
other responsibilities.

Changes in the Supervisory Board

The mandates of all the Supervisory Board members elected
by the employees expired at the close of the Annual General
Meeting on @ May 2023. The employee representatives on
the Supervisory Board up to this point were reappointed by
resolution of Cologne District Court of 10 May 2023 until
completion of the elections by employees on 29 July 2023.
Alexander Behrens, Jorg Cebulla, Jirgen Jennerke, llja Schulz,
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Birgit Spineux and Olivia Stelz left the Supervisory Board at
the completion of the elections by employees on 29 July
2023. The departing members were replaced by Tim Busse,
Sara Grubisic, Christian Hirsch, Jamila Jadran, Arne Christian
Karstens and Marvin Reschinsky, who were elected to the
Supervisory Board for the first time, as well as by Christine
Behle, Holger Benjamin Koch, Birgit Rohleder and Klaus
Winkler, who were re-elected, in accordance with the
Co-determination Act.

The periods in office of Miriam Sapiro, Carsten Knobel and
myself also ended at the close of the Annual General Meeting
on 9 May 2023. Karl Gernandt was elected for the first time,
and Carsten Knobel and | were re-elected to the Supervisory
Board for three years. The Supervisory Board thanks all the
former members for assuming their responsibilities and for
their constructive and dedicated work.

The members of committees initially remained unchanged
until the constitutive meeting on 8 August 2023. At this
constitutive meeting the Supervisory Board confirmed me as
Chair and again elected Christine Behle as Deputy Chair. In
accordance with the internal regulations for the Supervisory
Board we are therefore also both members of the Steering
Committee and the Arbitration Committee required by
Section 27 Para. 3 Co-determination Act. Thomas Enders

and Christian Hirsch were also elected to both committees.

In accordance with the internal regulations for the Supervisory
Board, | also chair the Nomination Committee, to which
Thomas Enders and Harald Krliger were again elected. Harald
Kriiger was elected as Chair of the Audit Committee and Arne
Christian Karstens, Michael Kerkloh, Carsten Knobel, Holger
Benjamin Koch and Klaus Winkler as members. Erich Clementi
was elected as Chair of the Environmental, Social and Corporate
Governance Committee (ESG Committee) and Sara Grubisic,
Marvin Reschinksy and Angela Titzrath as members.

Attendance at meetings
Overall, the Supervisory Board members had an attendance
rate of 98% for all meetings of the committees and the

Consolidated financial statements
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Supervisory Board in 2023. No member of the Supervisory
Board was present at only half or fewer of the meetings of the
Supervisory Board or the Supervisory Board committees of
which they were a member.

The meetings of the Supervisory Board and its committees
are generally held as in-person meetings, with the possibility
of video conferencing. With the exception of the extraordinary

LUFTHANSA GROUP ANNUAL REPORT 2023

Supervisory Board meeting on 22 May 2023 and the constitutive
Supervisory Board meeting on 8 August 2023, as well as

one extraordinary meeting of the Steering Committee and
the Nomination Committee respectively, which were held

as video conferences, all of the meetings of the Supervisory
Board of Deutsche Lufthansa AG and its committees were
held in person.

INDIVIDUAL ATTENDANCE RATES 2023

Supervisory Steering Audit Nomination ESG  Attendance rate

Board Committee Committee Committee Committee in %

(all meetings)

Karl-Ludwig Kley, Chairman 6/6 5/5 3/3 100
Christine Behle, Deputy Chairwoman 5/6 5/5 N
Alexander Behrens (until 28 Jul 2023) 3/3 3/3 100
Tim Busse (since 29 Jul 2023) 3/3 100
Jorg Cebulla (until 28 Jul 2023) 3/3 3/3 100
Erich Clementi 6/6 2/2 100
Thomas Enders 6/6 5/5 3/3 100
Karl Gernandt (since 9 May 2023) 4/4 100
Sara Grubisic (since 29 Jul 2023) 3/3 7 100
Christian Hirsch (since 29 Jul 2023) 3/3 2/2 100
Jamila Jadran (since 29 Jul 2023) 3/3 100
Jirgen Jennerke (until 28 Jul 2023) 3/3 100
Arne Christian Karstens (since 29 Jul 2023) 3/3 2/2 100
Michael Kerkloh 6/6 5/5 100
Carsten Knobel 5/6 5/5 o
Holger Benjamin Koch 6/6 2/2 Wl 100
Harald Kriiger 6/6 5/5 3/3 100
Marvin Reschinsky (since 29 Jul 2023) 3/3 Il 100
Birgit Rohleder 6/6 100
Miriam Sapiro (until 9 May 2023) 2/2 100
llja Schulz (until 28 Jul 2023) 3/3 3/3 ”n 100
Britta Seeger 6/6 100
Birgit Spineux (until 28 Jul 2023) 3/3 100
Astrid Stange 5/6 83
Olivia Stelz (until 28 Jul 2023) 2/3 67
Angela Titzrath 6/6 2/2 100
Klaus Winkler 6/6 5/5 100

on
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Corporate Governance

The proportion of women on the Executive Board meets the
minimum quota defined in the German Act Extending and
Amending the Rules on Equal Participation of Men and Women
in Executive Positions in the Public and Private Sectors
(FuPoG ).

The statutory quota requiring supervisory boards to consist of

30% women is met by the Supervisory Board as a whole as well

as by both the shareholder and employee representative groups.
www.lufthansagroup.com/corporate_governance_declaration.

We again carried out a self-assessment of our working
practices in the 2023 financial year on the basis of a detailed
questionnaire and conversations between the Chair and
individual members of the Supervisory Board, which were
discussed at the meeting on 6 March 2024. In addition, the
members of the Supervisory Board and of the Audit Committee
especially attended several training events offered by the
Company in the 2023 financial year. The subjects on offer
particularly included a seminar on the Supply Chain Due
Diligence Act and the European Supply Chain Directive on
19 January 2023, and on the Lufthansa Group cabin product
on 1 March 2023. Other training subjects for the Supervisory
Board were ESG in the Lufthansa Group, including an
in-depth look at what are known as sustainable aviation
fuels, on 21 September 2023, and the Lufthansa Group brand
development on 4 December 2023. The new Supervisory Board
members elected by the employees were offered a training
course on the principles of Supervisory Board work, includ-
ing an introduction to the strategy and fleet planning of the
Lufthansa Group.

In September 2023, the Supervisory Board and the Executive
Board issued an updated declaration of compliance with the
German Corporate Governance Code. At this meeting the

Consolidated financial statements
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Supervisory Board also adopted an updated requirements

profile and an updated qualification matrix.
www.lufthansagroup.com/corporate_governance_declaration.

No conflicts of interest were disclosed in the 2023 financial year.

Work of the committees

In the 2023 financial year, the Supervisory Board formed five
committees whose activities were each reported on at the
beginning of the following Supervisory Board meeting. Further
details on the composition of the committees can be found in
the chart Supervisory Board Committees.

LUFTHANSA GROUP ANNUAL REPORT 2023

SUPERVISORY BOARD COMMITTEES
as of 31 Dec 2023

Steering Committee Audit Committee Nomination Committee

Karl-Ludwig Kley
Chairman

Harald Kriiger
Chairman

Karl-Ludwig Kley
Chairman

Christine Behle
Deputy Chairwoman

Alexander Behrens
(until 28 July 2023)

Thomas Enders

Harald Kriiger
Thomas Enders Jorg Cebulla
(until 28 July 2023)
Christian Hirsch
(since 8 August 2023) Arne Christian Karstens
(since 8 August 2023)
llja Schulz
(until 28 July 2023) Michael Kerkloh
Carsten Knobel

Holger Benjamin Koch
(since 8 August 2023)

Klaus Winkler

Three meetings in Z

Five meetings in 2023 Five

eetings in 2023

Arbitration Committee

in accordance with Section

27 Paragraph 3
Co-determination Act
(MitbestG)

Karl-Ludwig Kley
Chairman

Christine Behle,
Deputy Chairwoman

Thomas Enders

Christian Hirsch
(since 8 August 2023)

llja Schulz
(until 28 July 2023)

ESG Committee

Erich Clementi
Chairman

Sara Grubisic
(since 8 August 2023)

Holger Benjamin Koch
(until 28 July 2023)

Marvin Reschinsky
(since 8 August 2023)

llja Schulz
(until 28 July 2023)

Angela Titzrath
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The Steering Committee met five times in 2023. As in previ-
ous financial years, the Steering Committee prepared the
Supervisory Board meetings and considered the course of
business in detail. The Steering Committee also considered
all of the issues relating to the remuneration received by the
Executive Board. The Steering Committee also made recom-
mendations to the full Supervisory Board on all personnel and
remuneration decisions concerning the Executive Board.

In 2023, the Nomination Committee met three times and the
Audit Committee met five times, always in the presence of the
auditors. As an independent financial expert in line with the
requirements of the German Stock Corporation Act and the
German Corporate Governance Code, the Chair of the Audit
Committee has particular knowledge and experience in the
field of accounting, including international control procedures,
and in relation to sustainability reporting. The Audit Committee
discussed the annual financial statements for 2022 and the
interim reports for 2023 with the CFO before their publication.
The committee also dealt with the supervision of accounting
processes and the effectiveness of the internal control, risk
management and internal auditing systems. Furthermore, the
members received regular reports on the compliance manage-
ment system and capital market communications.

They also discussed in detail the planning status of the 2024
budget and the Group operational planning for 2025 to 2027,
the medium-term financial planning and the combined non-
financial declaration, which was subject to a voluntary limited
assurance engagement by EY GmbH & Co. KG Wirtschaftspri-
fungsgesellschaft, Eschborn.
declaration, p. 73.

Combined non-financial

The purpose of the ESG Committee established as of 1 January
2023 is to advise the Supervisory Board, its committees and the
Executive Board on issues of sustainable corporate governance

Consolidated financial statements
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and the Company’s business activities in ESG areas. It met twice
in 2023. Focus topics were the steps taken by flight operations
to reduce emissions, sustainable aviation fuels and the changing
requirements for sustainability reporting.

The Arbitration Committee was not convened in the report-
ing period.

Audit and adoption of the annual financial statements

and approval of the consolidated financial statements

as of 31 December 2023

The Supervisory Board appointed EY GmbH & Co. KG
Wirtschaftsprifungsgesellschaft, Eschborn, who were
elected as auditors for the parent company and the Group
at the Annual General Meeting 2023, to audit the financial
statements and the consolidated financial statements, the
combined management report and the system for the early
identification of risks. The Audit Committee acknowledged
the declaration of independence provided by EY and dis-
cussed the main topics of the audit. No potential grounds for
disqualifying the auditors or doubting their impartiality came
to light during the course of the audit.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared
in accordance with the International Financial Reporting
Standards (IFRS) issued by the International Accounting
Standards Board (IASB), taking account of interpretations
by the IFRS Interpretations Committee as applicable in

the European Union (EU). The auditors audited the annual
financial statements and consolidated financial statements
of Deutsche Lufthansa AG and the combined management
report as of 31 December 2023 in accordance with the legal
requirements, and issued an unqualified audit opinion. They
further confirmed that the system for the early identification
of risks established by the Executive Board is suitable for
the early identification of developments that could endanger
the Company’s continued existence. During their audit, the
auditors did not come across any facts that would run
contrary to the declaration of compliance.

LUFTHANSA GROUP ANNUAL REPORT 2023

On 29 February 2024, the Audit Committee discussed the
audit reports in detail with the CFO in the presence of the
two auditors who had signed the auditors’ report. At the
Supervisory Board accounts meeting on 6 March 2024,

the auditors reported on their audit findings and answered
questions. We examined the financial statements and the
consolidated financial statements of Deutsche Lufthansa AG,
as well as the combined management report, including the
combined non-financial declaration and the remuneration
report pursuant to Section 162 AktG, and had no objections
to make. The financial statements and the consolidated
financial statements were approved. The 2023 annual finan-
cial statements of Deutsche Lufthansa AG as prepared by the
Executive Board have thereby been adopted. We agree with
the Executive Board’s proposal for profit distribution. Now
that the stabilisation has been completed, it is gratifying that
a dividend can be distributed for the financially successful
financial year 2023.

Frankfurt, 6 March 2024

har!' bty /Lﬁ

For the Supervisory Board
Karl-Ludwig Kley
Chairman
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Lufthansa share up by 4% over the course of the year

The Lufthansa share had a very volatile performance in the
2023 financial year. Starting from a price of EUR 7.77 at year-
end 2022, the share rose very significantly within a short
time at the beginning of the year. The share price reached
EUR 10.95 in early March. The Lufthansa share profited from
the fact that an increasing number of financial analysts and
investors were expecting strong demand in the summer
season. Concerns about weaker demand had weighed on
share prices in the industry in the previous months.

From April onwards the share price started to fall, however.
This reflected financial market fears that the challenging
macroeconomic environment, especially the high inflation,
and the geopolitical situation could have an adverse impact

on the development of the airline industry in the medium term.

Closely related to this were increasing uncertainties about the
course of the kerosene price, particularly due to the conflict in
the Middle East. In early November, the share price then fell
to its low for the year at EUR 6.57.

Supported by the publication of results for the third quarter on

2 November 2023, the share price recovered quickly to
EUR 8.59 in early December. This positive market perception
partly came about because the Company was again able to

present strong quarterly figures, achieve the targets previously

communicated and confirm the positive demand outlook.
The decline in the oil price also had a positive effect.

As of year-end, the Lufthansa share traded at EUR 8.05.
This represented an increase of 4% for 2023 as a whole.

Consolidated financial statements

Remuneration report
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THE LUFTHANSA SHARE: KEY FIGURES

2023 2022 2021 2020 2019
Year-end share price” € 8.05 777 6.18 772 nn
Highest share price” € 10.95 8.23 9.12 1.90 16.78
Lowest share price” € 6.57 5.51 5.36 5.03 917
Number of shares millions 1196.6 1195.5 1,195.5 579.7 478.2
Market capitalisation (at year-end) €bn 9.6 9.3 7.4 6.5 7.8
Earnings per share € 1.40 0.66 -2.99 -12.51 2.55
Dividend per share € 0.30 - - - -
Dividend yield (gross) % 3.7 - - - -
Dividend payout €m 359.0 - - - -
Total shareholder return % 7.5 25.7 -20.0 -341 -12.6

U Share prices 2019 and 2020 adjusted for the effects of the issuance of new shares in connection with the capital increase in September 2021.

The Lufthansa share thus performed less well in 2023 than the

shares of main competitors IAG and Air France-KLM, which
increased by 25% and 10% respectively. The share prices of
European low-cost carriers also outperformed the Lufthansa
share. The MDAX index was up by 8% in 2023.

Over a period of two years, the Lufthansa share significantly
outperformed its competitors, however, with an increase of
20%. Only Ryanair shares performed better in this period.

SHARE PRICE PERFORMANCE OF LUFTHANSA AND COMPETITORS

in % 1year 2 years 4 years 10 years
Lufthansa 4 20 -32 -26
MDAX 8 -23 -4 64
Air France-KLM 10 -31 -73 -65
IAG 25 9 -63 -42
easyJet 57 -8 -64 -67
Ryanair 78 30 52 191

WIZZair 16 -47 -43 77

Executive Board and Supervisory Board propose dividend
of EUR 0.30 per share

At the Annual General Meeting, the Executive Board and
Supervisory Board of Deutsche Lufthansa AG will propose the
distribution of a dividend of EUR 0.30 per share for the finan-

cial year 2023, in line with the dividend policy. This represents a

dividend ratio of 21% of Group net profits and a dividend yield

of 3.7% based on the Lufthansa share’s closing price for the

year. - Financial strategy and value-based management, p. 23,
Earnings position, p. 40.
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Better analyst assessments than the previous year.

At year-end 2023, of the 21 equity analysts tracking the
Company (previous year: 18), eleven (previous year: five)
recommended buying the share, seven (previous year: ten)
recommended holding it, and three (previous year: three)
selling it. Whereas the analysts viewed the ongoing recovery
in the passenger business positively, the continued strength
of Lufthansa Technik and the further strengthening of the
balance sheet, there were concerns about the state of future
demand and the outlook for the airfreight business. The macro-
economic and geopolitical situation is also seen as a risk
factor. The average target price at year-end 2023 was

EUR 10.21 with a range of EUR 6.70 to EUR 15.00.

Share of German investors in the Company remains high

In order to protect international air traffic rights and its operating
licence, the German Aviation Compliance Documentation Act
(Luftverkehrsnachweissicherungsgesetz - LuftNaSiG) requires
Lufthansa to provide evidence that a majority of its shares are
held by German shareholders. For this reason, all Lufthansa
shares are registered shares with transfer restrictions.

At the end of 2023, the shareholders’ register showed that
German investors held 73.4% of the shares (previous year:
74.8%). The second largest group, with 10.4%, was sharehold-
ers from the USA. Investors from Ireland accounted for 4.3%
of the share capital. They were followed by the United
Kingdom with 1.7%, Norway and Canada, each with 1.6% and
Luxembourg with 1.5%. This ensured that the conditions of the
German Aviation Compliance Documentation Act (LuftNaSiG)
were met.

On the basis of the voting rights notification received, Kiihne
Aviation GmbH was the biggest shareholder at year-end 2023
with 15.01%, followed by BlackRock, Inc. with 3.14%.

Consolidated financial statements
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ANALYSTS’ RECOMMENDATIONS " BUY
as of 31 Dec 2023 11

Buy Hold Sell

U Average target price: EUR 10.21, average of 21 analysts.
Range: EUR 6.70 to EUR 15.00.

According to the definition of Deutsche Borse, 85% of
Lufthansa shares were in free float. As of the reporting date,
54% (previous year: 49%) of the shares were held by institu-
tional investors and 46% by private individuals (previous year:
51%). The number of shareholders declined year-on-year to
604,000 (previous year: 635,000), but remained high by his-
torical standards. The shareholder structure is updated quar-
terly and published on the website [~ www.lufthansagroup.com/
investor-relations. The notifications on voting rights received by
the Company from shareholders and published during 2023 are
also available there.

SHAREHOLDER STRUCTURE
BY NATIONALITY

as of 31 Dec 2023 in %

Other 5.5

Luxembourg 1.5

Norway 1.6

Canada 1.6

United Kingdom 1.7 ——
Ireland 4.3 ——————

USA 10.4 — Germany 73.4

Free float: 85%

THE LUFTHANSA SHARE: DATA

ISIN International Security

Identification Number DE0008232125
Security identification number 823212
German stock exchange code LHA
Stock market listing Frankfurt

Prime sector Transport & Logistics

Industry Airlines

Indices (selection) MDAX, EURO STOXX, STOXX Global,
EURO STOXX Travel & Leisure,
Bloomberg EMEA Airlines Index,

DAX 50 ESG, MSCI EMU ESG,
Vanguard ESG INTL STOCK ETF,
STOXX Sustainability, EURO STOXX
Sustainability, FTSE4Good Europe

Lufthansa share is included in the MDAX and other
important indices

The Lufthansa share is part of the MDAX. At year-end, the
share had an index weighting of 5.6%. With market capitalisa-
tion of EUR 8.2bn, adjusted for the free float, the Lufthansa
Group came in at number 36 (previous year: 38) in the ranking
of DAX companies (including the DAX 40) published by
Deutsche Bérse at year-end. The average daily XETRA trading
volume of the share in 2023 was 4,587,438 shares (previous
year: 7,564,664).

The Lufthansa share is also included in many classic interna-
tional share indices. It is also represented in several sustain-
ability indices, such as the MSCI EMU ESG, the EURO STOXX
Sustainability Index and the FTSE4Good Europe Index.

American Depositary Receipts (ADRs) offer an alternative
to equity investment

In addition to its stock market listing in Germany, investors
who are only allowed to invest in securities denominated in
US dollars can also gain exposure to the Lufthansa Group via
the Sponsored American Depositary Receipt Program (ADR).

015


https://investor-relations.lufthansagroup.com/de/investor-relations.html
https://investor-relations.lufthansagroup.com/de/investor-relations.html

Company Combined management report Consolidated financial statements Remuneration report Further information

Lufthansa share

The programme is managed by Deutsche Bank Trust Com-
pany Americas. Lufthansa ADRs are also registered on the
standardised trading and information platform OTCQX.

At year-end 2023, 10,969,245 ADRs were in circulation

(31 December 2022:12,593,861) Based on the 1:1 ratio to the
share, this corresponds to around 1% of the issued capital.

Lufthansa Group pursues intensive dialogue with investors
As in prior years, the Lufthansa Group again provided its
shareholders with timely, comprehensive information in the
2023 financial year. In addition to the quarterly conferences,
the Executive Board and Investor Relations team held many
roadshows and investor conferences to discuss with institu-
tional investors the current developments at the Group and its
operating environment in 2023. In addition, the Supervisory
Board Chair met investors in the context of a roadshow in
early 2023, mainly to discuss corporate governance topics
and the Company’s steps to reduce its emissions. In-depth
discussions were also held with investors in debt instruments.

In May 2023, the Group met with more than 3,000 sharehold-
ers who attended the Annual General Meeting, which was
held exclusively online. This was again significantly more
than the number of visitors to the in-person Annual General
Meetings in the years before the coronavirus pandemic.
Questions that shareholders had submitted in advance were
answered in writing by shareholder services on the Company
website before the Annual General Meeting took place. Any
follow-up questions and questions about new matters were
answered via video by the Supervisory Board and Executive
Board during the event.

All the publications, financial reports, presentations, the
quarterly shareholder information letter and the latest news
are available at [+ www.lufthansagroup.com/investor-relations.
The site also contains the financial calendar and the dates of
all the conferences and shareholder events that the Lufthansa
Group will be attending.

LUFTHANSA GROUP ANNUAL REPORT 2023
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PRINCIPLES
OF THE GROUP

Consolidated financial statements

® The Lufthansa Group is a leading European
airline group.

m The Lufthansa Group consists of the business
segments Passenger Airlines, Logistics, MRO
and Additional Businesses.

® The airlines form the core of the Lufthansa
Group.

m The Group strategy focuses on a consistent
alignment with customer needs, innovation
and digitalisation.

m Sustainability and corporate responsibility are
an established part of the Group strategy.

m The financial strategy aims for continuous
value creation, the generation of strong free
cash flows and financial stability.

® The purchase of latest-generation aircraft
drives fleet modernisation.

m The Lufthansa Group creates perspectives for
employees and promotes a strong corporate
culture.

m Agreements with works councils and trade
unions ensure stability and predictability.

Remuneration report Further information
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LUFTHANSA GROUP STRUCTURE

Supervisory Board

Carsten Spohr Chairman of the Executive Board

Michael Niggemann Human Resources & Infrastructure, Labor Director

Remco Steenbergen Finance

Christina Foerster Harry Hohmeister Detlef Kayser
Brand & Sustainability Global Markets & Network Fleet & Technology
& Lufthansa Frankfurt ° ° ° Lufthansa Cargo
& Lufthansa Munich ° ° °
A7 SWISS Zurich ® ° °

Austrian 7~ Vienna

brussels :E:

& Lufthansa Technik

®
®

®

.
Eurowings

BUSINESS ACTIVITIES AND GROUP
STRUCTURE

Lufthansa Group is a leading European airline group
The Lufthansa Group is an aviation group with operations
worldwide. It plays a leading role in its European home
market.

The Lufthansa Group comprises the Passenger Airlines and
Aviation Services segments.

The Passenger Airlines segment includes, on the one hand,
the network airlines Lufthansa Airlines, SWISS, Austrian Airlines
and Brussels Airlines. As part of the multi-hub strategy, they
offer their passengers a broad range of flights from their
global hubs in Frankfurt, Munich and Zurich as well as their
national hubs in Vienna and Brussels. Lufthansa Airlines also
has close relationships with the regional airlines Lufthansa
CityLine, Lufthansa City Airlines and Air Dolomiti as well as

Discover Airlines, the Lufthansa Group’s holiday airline.
Edelweiss, the leading Swiss holiday airline, is a sister
company of SWISS.

Furthermore, Eurowings also belongs to the Passenger Airlines
segment. This airline provides a comprehensive range of
direct connections for European short- and medium-haul
destinations, in particular from German-speaking countries.

Aviation Services comprises the segments Logistics and MRO,
as well as Additional Businesses, which in particular include
Lufthansa Aviation Training and Lufthansa Systems. An agree-
ment to sell AirPlus was signed in 2023. The Group Functions
are also part of this segment.

The former Catering segment was dissolved at the close of
the financial year 2023 following the sale of the LSG group to
Aurelius. > Significant events, p. 38.
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The business segments and airlines of the Lufthansa Group
are each under their own management. The Group strategy
is defined and its implementation managed through the
Executive Board of Deutsche Lufthansa AG or the Group
Executive Committee, which essentially consists of the
members of the Executive Board of Deutsche Lufthansa AG
and the CEOs of the main companies.

Six-member Executive Board manages

Deutsche Lufthansa AG

The Executive Board of Deutsche Lufthansa AG had six mem-
bers at the end of the 2023 financial year: Carsten Spohr is
the Chairman of the Executive Board of Deutsche Lufthansa
AG, Christina Foerster is responsible for the “Brand and
Sustainability” portfolio, Harry Hohmeister is responsible for
the “Global Markets & Network” portfolio, Detlef Kayser
heads up the “Fleet & Technology” portfolio, Michael Nigge-
mann is in charge of the “Human Resources & Infrastructure”
portfolio and is the Labor Director, and Remco Steenbergen
manages the “Finance” portfolio.

The Supervisory Board of Deutsche Lufthansa AG voted to
carry out a wide-ranging reorganisation of the Executive
Board at its meeting on 22 March 2024. The Executive Board
is to be reduced from six to five members and responsibilities
redistributed. -> Events after the reporting date, p. 39.

Consolidated financial statements
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STRATEGIES AND GOALS
Group strategy

Positioning as leading European airline group

The Lufthansa Group is one of the largest airline groups
worldwide and the leading European airline group. In this role,
the Lufthansa Group aims to play a part in actively shaping
the global airline market. It strives to follow the purpose: The
Lufthansa Group connects people, cultures and economies in
a sustainable way. In doing so, it aspires to set standards in
terms of customer-friendliness and sustainability. The
Lufthansa Group uses the potential of innovation and digital-
isation to develop customer-focused products and increase
efficiency. Corporate responsibility and identity are put into
practice locally and supported by overarching functional pro-
cesses that enable synergies and economies of scale. A strict
focus on costs, operational stability and reliability in all areas
are firmly established in the DNA of the Lufthansa Group.
The safety of flight operations always has the highest priority.

At the core of the Lufthansa Group are the airlines and their
extensive European and intercontinental route networks in
their home markets of Germany, Austria, Switzerland, Belgium
and northern Italy. In two business models - network airlines
and point-to-point airlines - they serve the relevant customers
and market segments with dedicated brands and differentiated
service promises, connecting Europe with the world. The
passenger airline business is supplemented by Aviation Ser-
vices, which each have synergies with the airlines. The Group's
structure - with activities throughout the airline value chain -
enables the maximisation of synergies between segments,
while at the same time scaling up Aviation Services’ business
from external markets. The long-term aim is to focus the port-
folio more sharply on the airlines. > Business segments, p. 52.
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PURPOSE OF LUFTHANSA GROUP
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Transformation of the Lufthansa Group is to improve
long-term economic success

The market and the competitive environment move very quickly
in the aviation sector. Exogenous sources of uncertainty,
resource bottlenecks, high inflation, shifts in the value chain
and evolving customer requirements necessitate permanent
change, but also offer opportunities. Current examples of this
include significantly shorter advance booking periods than
before the coronavirus pandemic, a significant increase in
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demand for sustainable products and more data-based product
development and production management.

The Group's strategy envisages continuous transformation
and modernisation of the Lufthansa Group so as to be optimally
positioned in a changing, fast-paced geopolitical environment
with significant impacts on supply and value chains. The goal
is to consistently act upon opportunities arising due to trends
and market changes. Services, business models and organi-
sational structures are to be continuously aligned with the
complex and dynamic market environment. The aim is to
safeguard the Lufthansa Group’s leading market position and
economic success by developing it into an agile and flexible
organisation that is even more competitive. In particular, a
further increase in its customer orientation, accelerating inno-
vation and digitalisation, corporate responsibility and sustain-
ability, modern forms of work organisation and value-based
management will ensure that the Lufthansa Group is ready

for the future. In order to promote cooperation between Group
companies and business segments, cultural development

in the Lufthansa Group is driven by a Group-wide initiative.

The Lufthansa Group is continuing the transformation it has
begun in recent years in order to remain successful in the future
market environment. This includes repositioning Discover
Airlines as an independent brand, for instance, and estab-
lishing Lufthansa City Airlines for further competitive hub
traffic and feeder traffic at the German hubs of Frankfurt and
Munich. Economies of scale are also realised consistently
and flight operations with competitive structures and a good
operational performance will be scaled up.

Within this long-term strategic framework, the Lufthansa Group
sets tactical areas of focus in line with specific internal and
external requirements. It focuses on the recruitment of new
employees, for example, the retention and continued develop-
ment of existing staff, and internal development opportunities
for talented staff.

Consolidated financial statements
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The aim is also to increase structural profitability by increasing
income and cutting costs, in order to mitigate or offset the
effects of inflation. Market opportunities for raising prices are
seized and productivity potential is used to reduce costs.
The productivity of aircraft and crews will be enhanced by
reducing the number of aircraft types in the long-haul fleet,
for example, and permanent optimisation of operating pro-
cesses and the route network. Another aim is to make the
fixed cost base as variable as possible, in order to minimise
the impact of cost increases and of seasonal and cyclical
fluctuations in demand.

Customers are at the heart of things, fulfilling the premium
claim is a key area of action

In view of changes to the structures of supply and demand, an
even greater focus on the customer is a core element of the
Group strategy. Customers with their individual needs and
preferences are at the heart of all activities and services. The
Lufthansa Group aims to offer travel products with the highest
quality standards, as well as tailored, flexible solutions along
the entire travel chain. This is achieved by means of new prod-
ucts and services on the ground and on board. At the same
time, customer service is being expanded and improved with
innovative digital features and personal dialogue.

These goals are backed up by means of an integrated product
approach. Passengers will experience a holistically linked
range of attractive physical products, such as seating and
lounges, attentive service from employees both on board and
on the ground and innovative digital services. The Lufthansa
Group strives to keep enhancing its premium standard and its
consistent delivery, to expand its product range in line with
the latest industry trends, and to continue refining its loyalty
programme. Of essential importance is the fulfilment of its
promise as a premium provider, at every point of contact
throughout the travel chain. The focus here is, in particular,

on all areas which are highly relevant for customers, which
influence repeat purchases and a willingness to pay, and which
thus generate value for the Lufthansa Group. The basis for all
this is to guarantee the continuity and dependability of flight

LUFTHANSA GROUP ANNUAL REPORT 2023

operations. It is also fundamental to ensure good customer
service in the call centre, to expand the digital service channels,
including the use of chatbots, and to automate processes to
accelerate the fulfilment of customer demands in the event of
flight irregularities.

In addition, the product range will be expanded in line with
customers’ expectations. Specifically, this means a wider
choice of individually selectable product components as well
as an improved travel experience on board and on the ground,
in the premium segment in particular. For instance, through its
refit with the Lufthansa Allegris and SWISS Senses product
generation seating, Lufthansa Airlines and SWISS offer a new
travel experience in every class on long-haul routes. Austrian
Airlines is also getting a new long-haul cabin with the introduc-
tion of the Boeing 787 Dreamliner. Customers with Lufthansa
Group Travel ID or a Miles & More account will also have better
internet availability on board, and so be able to use short
messaging services free of charge on an unlimited basis. All
customers will continue to have access to new service options
in the expanded in-flight entertainment programme and to
all the services of the Lufthansa Group apps during the flight.
The culinary range will also be improved in the spirit of the
premium promise. Customers will be able to select or order
their meals in advance in future. The cuisine in Business Class
will continue to be improved in terms of selection and quality,
in order to offer a unique culinary experience. Particular atten-
tion will be paid in future to expanding the offering with new,
high-quality service details. New digital customer services on
the ground, such as information on current lounge capacities
and a new check-in area for First Class and HON-Circle cus-
tomers, will strengthen the hospitality profile of the Lufthansa
Group Passenger Airlines.

The automation of customer services is also being advanced.
The digital customer portal enables customers to access all
relevant information relating to their journey and resolve issues
such as rebookings, refunds or additional products quickly and
easily thanks to new, interactive self-service options. There
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will also be a new approach to customer loyalty and personal
interaction. In this context, the Lufthansa Group is expanding
its existing, somewhat transactional concept of customer
loyalty and will in future demonstrate greater individual appre-
ciation for every passenger. In addition, the continuous expansion
of the Lufthansa Group Travel ID, which recognises customers
at every point of contact, no matter which airline they are flying
on, will make it possible to match services and offerings with
the personal needs of Lufthansa Group Airlines passengers.

These activities aim to improve customer satisfaction together
with the operational areas and other interfaces. The Net
Promoter Score (NPS) is an indicator of customer satisfaction
and measures the willingness of customers to recommend the
services of Lufthansa Group Airlines.
declaration, Customer concerns p. 93.

Combined non-financial

Multi-airline business model is the basis for the success of
the Lufthansa Group

The airlines form the core of the Lufthansa Group. They are
positioned in the relevant market segments as high-quality
carriers. Their nationwide presence in their home markets
enables them to offer an attractive range of flights and route
networks. The Lufthansa Group aims to maintain the leading
market position of its airlines going forward. To this end, the
Lufthansa Group's traffic system is continuing to be developed
into a multi-traffic system, consisting of hubs, point-to-point
traffic and intermodal offerings.

Lufthansa Airlines and SWISS will continue to set standards
for quality and cost-effectiveness in future. With their wide
range of destinations and frequent flights, they offer the
greatest connectivity of all the European airlines.

Austrian Airlines and Brussels Airlines combine a high-quality
and attractive product which is attuned to the needs of their
local markets with a low cost base which can hold its own

against low-cost carriers at the bases in Vienna and Brussels.
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With Eurowings, the Lufthansa Group has an innovative and
competitive offering in point-to-point traffic, which addresses
both price-sensitive and service-oriented customers with
low-cost basic fares and additional service options that can
be booked flexibly.

Work is being continued on the systematic renewal of the
Group fleet. Key targets are to cut fuel consumption, reduce
carbon emissions and trim the number of aircraft models by
retiring and phasing out older, less efficient models. Since 2022,
additional state-of-the-art long-haul aircraft such as the Air-
bus A350 and Boeing 787 have strengthened the Lufthansa
Group fleet. Additional aircraft of these two models and other
short- and medium-haul aircraft were ordered in 2023.

Fleet, p. 27.

In order to exploit opportunities in the long-distance leisure
travel market, the range of short-, medium- and long-haul
routes from the hubs in Frankfurt and Munich targeting private
travellers is being expanded. Discover Airlines supplements
and strengthens the tourism portfolio of the Lufthansa Group.
Passengers are thus able to benefit from the wide feeder
network and the established ground processes of Lufthansa
Group Network Airlines. The global distribution strength of
Lufthansa Group Airlines is also exploited.

Cooperation with partner airlines is becoming more important,
in order to strengthen market presence in key traffic regions
and offer customers attractive connecting flights at their des-
tination. The Lufthansa Group’s successful joint ventures are
therefore being developed and partnerships expanded in all
key markets. The range of intermodal transport solutions that
are seamlessly integrated into the travel chain is likewise
being extended.

The Lufthansa Group is also seeking to play an active role
in the consolidation of the airline industry, in line with its
strategic and financial goals. In this area it focuses on safe-
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guarding its existing market position and opening up new
growth potential. Particular attention is paid to further regional
diversification of the business model. Potential investments
in other companies or their acquisition are always judged on
the basis of their contribution to value creation.

Lufthansa Group to focus increasingly on sustainability

and social responsibility

Responsibility is the foundation of business activities in the

Lufthansa Group. The Lufthansa Group aspires to lead the

aviation sector with high standards in this area as well. It there-

fore builds continuously on its environmental commitment, is

dedicated to many social issues and treats its employees

and partners in the value chain responsibly and fairly.
Combined non-financial declaration, p. 73.

In terms of environmental policy, the Lufthansa Group aims
to cut its net carbon emissions in half by 2030 compared with
2019 and supports the objective of making aviation carbon
neutral by 2050. Within the framework of these net goals, the
Lufthansa Group sets itself specific efficiency targets for
reducing carbon emissions in its core business segment that
are in line with the Paris Agreement and have been validated
by the Science Based Targets initiative (SBTI).

In order to achieve these objectives, the Lufthansa Group is
investing continuously in fuel-efficient aircraft. This is accom-
panied by the airlines’ operational efficiency measures. The
Lufthansa Group also works with policymakers and partners in
industry, technology and research to promote the industriali-
sation and use of sustainable aviation fuel (SAF). In addition,
intermodal traffic is being systematically further expanded in
all of its home markets.

The Lufthansa Group also includes sustainability aspects as a
key factor in the design of its products and services. For
example, it not only offers “Green Fares”, but also gives its
own passengers and travelers of other airlines the opportunity
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to reduce CO, emissions by purchasing SAF or to offset them
through high-quality climate protection projects with Com-
pensaid and Squake. Business trips made by Lufthansa Group
employees are also offset. In its product and service develop-
ment, the Lufthansa Group applies the principle of Reduce -
Recycle - Reuse - Replace to avoid waste. Here the aim is to
replace disposable products with environmentally friendly
products wherever possible. The focus is also on avoiding
food waste.

In terms of responsibility for its employees, the Lufthansa Group
attaches great importance to offer its staff an attractive work-
ing environment with transparent structures, efficient pro-
cesses and a wide range of social benefits. Lufthansa is thus
seeking to further expand its already good position as an
employer within the aviation industry as a whole. At the same
time, large German companies also serve as a benchmark.
For instance, the Lufthansa Group offers its employees an
extensive range of opportunities for their development, thus
contributing to employee satisfaction and safeguarding jobs.
Diversity and equal opportunity are seen as a strength. In terms
of social responsibility, the Company supports disadvantaged
people worldwide via the financial and personnel support
for educational establishments and training provided by help
alliance, the Group’s own aid organisation.

The central importance of sustainability for the Lufthansa Group
is reflected in the fact that it is represented at the Executive
Board level. Implementation of the sustainability strategy is
further supported by its inclusion in the remuneration of the
Executive Board members and the management levels. The
Lufthansa Group also actively supports the measurement by
relevant international ESG ratings, such as MSCI, Sustainalytics,
CDP and ecovadis, to ensure transparency about activities
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and progress at all times. As well as the non-financial declara-
tion which is required by law, the Lufthansa Group also reports
according to TCFD and SASB standards, in order to meet the
various needs of its international stakeholders.

Dialogue with the Company’s stakeholders is also a compo-
nent of responsible corporate governance. This continuous
exchange gives the Lufthansa Group an understanding of its
different interest groups’ needs, expectations and wishes, which
permits their inclusion in the Company’s business practices.

Aviation Services to be aligned with market needs

With its Aviation Services segment, the Lufthansa Group has
several companies that are global leaders in their respective
sectors. In order to secure and build on their successful posi-
tioning, the companies in the Aviation Services segment are
permanently adapting their business models to changing
market conditions and competitive environments. Lufthansa
Cargo is increasingly participating in the growth of interna-
tional eCommerce shipments within Europe through the use
of the pure freight version of the medium-haul aircraft A321.
The Company is moreover modernising and expanding its
cargo centre in Frankfurt, in order to participate in the growth
of the airfreight market.

Consistent alignment of the Group as an airline group

The value contributed to the Lufthansa Group by every one
of the Aviation Services is reviewed and refined continuously.
In connection with its positioning as an airline group, the
Lufthansa Group not only continuously assesses the attrac-
tiveness of the individual market segments, it also determines
whether it is the best owner for the respective company on
the basis of existing or potential synergies. It may therefore
make sense for certain Aviation Services companies to further
develop outside the Lufthansa Group or together with partners.
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In order to fully exploit potential synergies between the sub-
areas and to minimise the need for coordination, the organi-
sational structure and governance processes of the Lufthansa
Group are being continuously developed and adjusted in line
with current requirements. The aim is to achieve lean, flexible
and efficient structures as well as quicker decision-making
processes. These changes are being accompanied by an expan-
sion of agile and cross-functional work methods. This also
aims to support cultural change and promote a flexible and
enterprise-based mentality.
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Financial strategy and value-based
management

Financial strategy builds on three pillars

The financial strategy of the Lufthansa Group seeks to increase
its Company value in a sustainable manner. Three dimensions
form the pillars for this: continuous value creation, generating
strong free cash flows and maintaining financial stability.
The successful implementation of the financial strategy aims
to increase the enterprise value sustainably and further
strengthen the Lufthansa Group balance sheet so that the
Group can invest in future profitable growth and successfully
overcome crises.

Finance Transformation Programme is intended to deliver
improvements in the area of finance

The Lufthansa Group initiated a financial transformation
programme in 2022 to drive the structural development of
the finance function and strengthen it. The aim of the Finance
Transformation Programme is to enhance the Company’s
commercial performance and competitiveness. The corner-
stones of this programme are the review and improvement
of financial steering, increased efficiency, the ongoing devel-
opment of talent and employees as well as the modernisation
of the finance IT landscape.

Several measures were implemented successfully in the
reporting year. This included driving the necessary preparations
for renewing and harmonising the IT systems and establishing
attractive training and development courses, especially for
financial subjects.

Consolidated financial statements
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FINANCIAL STRATEGY

Sustainable increase of Company value

Continuous
value creation

Generation of strong

A
111

Maintain financial
stability

i |
P

free cash flows

Focus — Improved return on capital — Increase in operating result — Adequate liquidity
— Improved profitability — Working capital management — Reduction in net indebtedness
— Continuous reduction of — Focused investing activities — Maintaining investment grade rating
environmental impacts — Minimisation of financial risks
Targets — Adjusted ROCE — Adjusted free cash flow" — Adjusted net debt/Adjusted EBITDA
— Adjusted EBIT margin?
— Specific CO, emissions
" Derivation => Earnings position, p. 40ff., Financial position, p. 44ff.

Continuous value creation

Sustainable value creation in the Company

The Lufthansa Group applies a value-based system of manage-
ment. At its centre is the return on capital. This is measured
by the Adjusted Return on Capital Employed (Adjusted ROCE).
The capital base is adjusted for the Group’s cash and cash
equivalents. If Adjusted ROCE exceeds the weighted average
cost of capital (WACC), the Company is creating value. In 2021,
the Lufthansa Group set itself the objective of generating an
Adjusted ROCE of at least 10% from 2024. This objective was
already reached in the reporting year.

The Company'’s profitability is measured by Adjusted EBIT
and the Adjusted EBIT margin, i.e. the ratio of Adjusted EBIT
to revenue. The adjustments eliminate non-recurring, non-
operating effects and thus improve the presentation of the

Company’s operating performance and facilitate comparisons.

Matters that justify an adjustment are listed in a catalogue.
They comprise write-downs and write-backs, earnings effects
from disposals of non-current assets, effects of pension plan
changes, restructuring expenses in the form of severance
payments, significant costs of legal procedures and company
transactions not arising in the normal course of business and
other material non-recurring expenses caused directly by
extraordinary external factors.

Material matters eliminated for the purpose of Adjusted EBIT
measurement in the reporting year were impairment losses on
aircraft held for sale, expenses in connection with the purchase
and sale of company divisions, expenses from adjustments
to pension plans, book losses largely for aircraft and reserve
engines, book gains, in particular from sale-and-lease-back
transactions and from the disposal of interests in joint ventures.
Reconciliation of results, p. 44.
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The Lufthansa Group seeks to achieve a sustainable Adjusted
EBIT margin in excess of 8%. -> Forecast, p. 143.

Furthermore, the Lufthansa Group incorporates the specific
carbon emissions into its management system to lower the
associated costs by reducing environmental impacts and to
enable sustainable value creation. Progress made in reducing
emissions also influences funding terms. Target achievement
in this area also forms part of management remuneration.

Information about the long-term goals for reducing carbon
emissions can be found in the <> Combined non-financial
declaration/Climate protection, p. 79.

The Company’s value creation was significantly positive in the
2023 financial year. In the 2023 financial year, the Adjusted
ROCE after tax was 13.1% (previous year: 7.6%), while the
WACC was unchanged year on year at 7.2%. Adjusted EBIT
came to EUR 2,682m (previous year: EUR 1,520m). The
Adjusted EBIT margin was therefore 7.6% (previous year: 4.9%).
Earnings position, p. 40. Specific carbon emissions per
passenger-kilometre were 88.4 grammes in 2023, 1.8% lower
than in the previous year (previous year: 90.0 grammes).
Combined non-financial declaration/Climate protection, p. 79.

Restructuring programme completed, Efficiency
programme initiated for airlines

The Lufthansa Group completed its Group-wide restructuring
and transformation programme as planned in financial year
2023. The programme has allowed the Company to align itself
with the changes in the market environment created by the
crisis. It included adjustments to cost structures, particularly
the reduction of fixed costs. This reflected the lower market
volume caused by the coronavirus pandemic and made it
possible to return to the earnings level in the period before the
pandemic, although available capacity was significantly lower
than the pre-crisis level.
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Since cost pressure remains high due to high inflation and
lower productivity than before the crisis, an efficiency pro-
gramme is to be launched for the Group airlines in 2024. The
intention is to achieve the same level of efficiency as in 2019
by no later than year-end 2025. The focus here is primarily on
the efficient use of fleet and crews, which was compromised
in the reporting year, partly by bottlenecks at system partners
and the significant capacity expansion in response to resur-
gent demand.

Generation of strong free cash flows

Financial management aims for strong free cash flows
Strong free cash flows must be generated in order to create
value for shareholders and further reduce borrowing. In addition
to increasing the operating result, the key levers for this are
strict working capital management and focused investing
activities. The Lufthansa Group strives to generate further
significantly positive Adjusted free cash flow in the years ahead.
In the 2023 financial year, Adjusted free cash flow benefited
in particular from the increased earnings as well as further
improvements in working capital management. Adjusted free
cash flow of EUR 1,846m (previous year: EUR 2,526m) was
achieved as a result although, as expected, there was no repeat
of the previous year’s sharp increase in advance bookings,
which was connected to the sudden leap in demand after the
coronavirus pandemic. > Financial position, p. 44.
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CALCULATION OF ADJUSTED ROCE

2023 20223 Change
in€m in %
Total revenue 35,442 30,895 15
Changes in inventories, work
performed by entity and capitalised
and other operating income 3,140 2,534 24
Operating income 38,582 33,429 15
Operating expenses 36,126 32,033 13
Result from equity investments 213 23 826
EBIT 2,669 1,419 88
Adjusted EBIT 2,682 1,520 76
Taxes (fixed rate of 25% of EBIT) - 667 -355 -88
ROCE"in % 1341 71 6.0 pts
Adjusted ROCE? in % 1341 7.6 5.5 pts
Total assets 45,321 43,335 5
Non-interest bearing liabilities

of which liabilities from unused

flight documents 4,981 4,898 2

of which trade payables,

other current financial liabilities,

other current provisions 6,465 6,189 4

of which advance payments,

deferred income,

other non-financial Liabilities 3,585 3,437 4

of which other non-interest

bearing liabilities 5,826 5,605 4

of which capital employed for

discontinued Catering segment - 435

of which liquid funds 8,265 8,301
Capital employed 16,199 14,470 12
Average capital employed 15,334 14,996 2
WACC in %% 7.2 7.2 -

U (EBIT-25% taxes on EBIT)/Average capital employed.

2 (Adjusted EBIT-25% taxes on Adjusted EBIT)/Average capital employed

3 Previous year’s figures adjusted due to sale of LSG group.

4 Internal indicator.

024



Company Combined management report

Principles of the Group

Improvements in working capital management

support cash flow generation

Working capital management is to be further intensified.
This includes targeted measures such as strict receivables
management, optimising payment terms with suppliers,
improvements to procurement processes and maintenance of
inventories, in particular at Lufthansa Technik. Free cash flow
also plays a major role for managers’ variable remuneration
and in the performance dialogues with the business entities.
The organisation is continuously made aware of its influence
on Company value and incentives are established to increase
the level of free cash flows.

Focused investments to increase return on capital
employed

The Lufthansa Group is making extensive investments in the
modernisation of its fleet, on-board and ground products as
well as in infrastructure in order to ensure profitable long-term
growth. In 2024, net capital expenditure should again not
exceed the value of the depreciation and amortisation.

Additional aircraft will very largely replace older, less efficient
models. The allocation of new aircraft to the different airlines
and bases is constantly optimised according to value-based
criteria. Greater use of leasing is intended to increase the level
of flexibility for long-term fleet planning and to limit the use
of capital. In the medium term, this will take the proportion
of leasing above its current level of around 11%. Sale-and-
lease-back transactions were completed for this purpose in
the reporting year, in which a total of twelve aircraft from the
A320neo family were sold to lessors and then leased back.

Consolidated financial statements
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The Lufthansa Group increased the volume of its investments
year-on-year in the reporting period. Compared with the pre-
vious year net capital expenditure rose by 23% to EUR 2,811m
(previous year: EUR 2,286m). Advance and final payments for
aircraft and aircraft components along with aircraft and engine
overhauls account for most of this. Primary, secondary
and financial investments, p. 45.

Continuous dividend distribution aimed for

Now that the balance sheet has been successfully strength-
ened again, shareholders will regularly participate directly

in the Company’s success again via an attractive dividend.
This is intended to make the Company more attractive on
the capital market, including for investors with a long-term
investment horizon.

The Lufthansa Group's dividend policy provides for a distribu-
tion to its shareholders of 20% to 40% of net profit, adjusted
for non-recurring gains and losses. One condition for the
payment of a dividend is that the net profit for the year as
shown in the individual financial statements of Deutsche
Lufthansa AG that are drawn up under German commercial
law allows for a distribution of the relevant amount.

Executive Board and Supervisory Board propose dividend
of EUR 0.30 per share

In line with the dividend policy, the Executive Board and
Supervisory Board will table a proposal at the Annual General
Meeting on 7 May 2024 to distribute a dividend of EUR 0.30
per share to shareholders for the financial year 2023. This
represents a total dividend of EUR 359m or 21% of net profit
for 2023. > Earnings position, p. 40.
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Maintaining financial stability

Liquidity should be between EUR 8bn and EUR 10bn

The Lufthansa Group has decided to hold liquid funds of
between EUR 8bn and EUR 10bn in future to protect against
possible crises. For capital efficiency reasons, part of the
strategic liquidity reserve is held in the form of a revolving
line of credit. This amounted to EUR 2.0bn at year-end 2023,
unchanged from the previous year. Including the unused
credit line, the liquidity available to the Lufthansa Group
totalled EUR 10.4bn at the end of the reporting year, as in
the previous year. > Financial position, p. 44.

Lufthansa Group benefits from good capital market access
The Lufthansa Group successfully raised new funds on the
capital market again in the 2023 financial year. New borrowing
of EUR 230m in total was raised via an asset-backed security
(ABS) at AirPlus and through aircraft financing transactions.
A'large part of the maturing liabilities was repaid by cash flows
from operating activities, however. The Group continues to
benefit from the extensive refinancing measures implemented
at attractive terms, especially in 2021. > Financing, p. 46.

Further reduction of debt as the core goal of the financial
strategy

The long-term financial strategy continues to focus on reducing
the level of gearing. The generation of strong free cash flows
in particular is intended to help reduce the volume of net debt.
In addition, the Group has started to change the allocation of
pension assets. This is intended to align the sensitivity of plan
assets to interest rates more closely with the sensitivity of
the pension obligations. In this way, the volatility of pension
provisions should be permanently reduced and a repeated
significant increase avoided, even if interest rates drop across
the market. A corresponding switch initially took place for
half the pension assets in 2023; in 2024 the quota is to be
increased to the target value of 75%.
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At the end of the 2023 financial year, net indebtedness was
EUR 5,682m. It was therefore 17% lower than the previous
year (previous year: EUR 6,871m) and lower than the pre-crisis
level at year-end 2019 (EUR 6,662m). Net pension liabilities
rose in the reporting year, due to the lower discount rate used
to discount the pension obligations, to EUR 2,676m (previous
year: EUR 1,993m). > Net assets, p. 48.

Use of diversified finance sources

A mix of different instruments is to be used for future borrow-
ing, above all aircraft financing, bonds and borrower’s note
loans. Optimising the funding mix should reduce financing
costs, maintain a balanced maturity profile and diversify the
Lufthansa Group’s portfolio of creditors. In principle, newly
raised funds should be subject to fixed interest rates. The
volume of floating-rate liabilities should not exceed the volume
of funds invested at a floating interest rate. Net debt is thus
subject to a fixed interest rate and market-wide interest-rate
changes do not have any material impact on the Group’s
interest burden. Maturity profile of borrowings, p. 47.

Retaining the investment grade rating

Deutsche Lufthansa AG is again receiving an investment
grade rating from all the leading rating agencies. During the
coronavirus pandemic the rating agencies, with the exception
of Scope Ratings, downgraded the Company.

The global rating agency Fitch rated the credit risk of Deutsche
Lufthansa AG for the first time in November 2023, giving it an
investment grade rating of BBB-, outlook stable.

Since December 2023 Standard & Poor’s has also given
Deutsche Lufthansa AG an investment grade rating of BBB-
again, outlook stable.
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The rating agency Moody'’s likewise raised its rating for
Deutsche Lufthansa AG to Baa3, which is also investment
grade, in mid-January 2024, with a stable outlook.

DEVELOPMENT OF RATINGS

Rating/ 2023 2022 2021 2020 2019
outlook
Standard & BBB-/ BB/ BB-/ BB-/ BBB/
Poor’s stable positive stable  negative stable
Moody’s Bal/ Ba2/ Ba2/ Ba2/ Baa3/
stable stable  negative  negative stable
Scope Ratings BBB-/ BBB-/ BBB-/ BBB-/ BBB/
positive stable  negative  negative stable
Fitch Ratings BBB-/
stable

The Group strives to be rated as investment grade on a lasting
basis. Investment grade ratings for the Company’s debt ensure
good access to the capital markets and low funding costs and
thus financial flexibility. Conditions for an investment grade

rating are good profitability and low debt, among other things.

The Group's gearing, measured by the ratio of Adjusted net
debt to Adjusted EBITDA, should be limited to a figure of less
than 3.5 on a long-term basis; no lower limit has been set.
With Adjusted net debt, the ratio takes into account both net
indebtedness (including the financial obligations arising from
lease agreements, primarily for property and aircraft) and the
net pension obligations.

At the end of 2023, the ratio of Adjusted net debt/Adjusted
EBITDA was 1.7 (previous year: 2.3).
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ADJUSTED NET DEBT/ADJUSTED EBITDA

in€m 2023 2022 Change in %
Net indebtedness” 5,435 6,624 -18
Net pension obligations 2,676 1,993 34
Adjusted net debt 8,1M 8,617 -6
Adjusted EBIT 2,682 1,520 76
Depreciation, amortisation

and impairment 2,228 2,199 1
Adjusted EBITDA 4,910 3,719 32
Adjusted net debt/

Adjusted EBITDA 1.7x 2.3x -28

" In order to calculate net indebtedness, here 50% of the hybrid bond issued
in 2015 (EUR 247m) has been discounted. Calculation of net indebtedness
Financial position, p. 44.

Structured risk management minimises finance risks
The Group’s financial stability is also ensured by means of
integrated risk management. Hedging fuel, exchange rate and
interest rate risks minimises the short-term financial risks for
the Lufthansa Group. The hedges smooth price fluctuations
by means of rule-based processes. Changes in fuel costs can
therefore be taken into account in pricing at an early stage.
Opportunities and risk report, p. 125, Notes to the consolidated
financial statements, Note 45, p. 231.
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GROUP FLEET - NUMBER OF COMMERCIAL AIRCRAFT

Lufthansa German Airlines including regional airlines, Germanwings and Discover Airlines (LH), SWISS including Edelweiss (LX),
Austrian Airlines (OS), Brussels Airlines (SN), Eurowings (EW) and Lufthansa Cargo (LCAG) as of 31 Dec 2023

LH LX [6F] SN EW LCAG Group of which Change
fleet lease compared
with
Manufacturer/type 31Dec 2022
Airbus A220 30 30
Airbus A319 38 15 33 86 7 -2
Airbus A320 63 25 29 18 50 185 28 -2
Airbus A320neo 35 6 2 7 55 7 +M
Airbus A321 54 6 6 4" 76 4 -2
Airbus A321neo 17 4 25 5 +7
Airbus A330 23 14 9 46 4 -4
Airbus A340 34 9 43
Airbus A350 23 26 5 +5
Airbus A380 8 8 -6
Boeing 747 27 27
Boeing 767 3
Boeing 777 12 18 2
Boeing 787 5 B +3
Boeing 777F 172 17 6 +1
Bombardier CRJ 28 28
Embraer 26 17 43
Total aircraft 381 109 66 44 100 21 721 78 +1

" A321P2F operated by Lufthansa CityLine.

2 Partly operated by AeroLogic, of which two aircraft attributed pro rata.
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Fleet

Fleet structure to be further optimised

At the end of 2023, the Lufthansa Group fleet comprised
721 aircraft (previous year: 710 aircraft). The average age of the
aircraft in the fleet was 13.4 years (previous year: 13.1 years).

The fleet expanded year-on-year by 11 aircraft. A total of 29
new aircraft were added to the fleet, compared with 18 retire-
ments. The new additions comprised 24 new aircraft (three
Boeing 787-9s, two Airbus A350-900s, seven Airbus A321neos,
eleven A320neos and one Boeing 777F) and five used aircraft
(three A350-900s bought and two A321P2Fs leased). The five
additional A350-900s were not yet ready for service at year-end
2023, however. On the other hand, nine older, comparatively
inefficient aircraft were sold in 2023 (three A321s, two A320s
and four A330s) and the lease agreements for three aircraft
were ended. Six Airbus A380s were also sold back to Airbus
in line with the contractual agreement from 2019. Since the
start of the coronavirus crisis, i.e. since year-end 2019, 128
aircraft have been retired. In the same period, 86 aircraft have
been added.

In addition, twelve short- and medium-haul aircraft were
sold and leased back in the reporting year. The aircraft are up
to two years old and are operated by Lufthansa Airlines,
Lufthansa CityLine and Eurowings.

On long-haul routes, six A380s were reactivated from long-
term parking mode in the reporting year. The Company was
responding to strong demand and countering delays in deliv-
ering ordered aircraft due to numerous problems at the manu-
facturers with production, supply chains and certification. Of
the six A380s, four have already started flight operations at
Munich Airport and two A380s are being prepared for flight
operations. Two further A380s are to be reactivated by 2025.
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The airlines in the Lufthansa Group operated 47 aircraft on the
basis of wet leases in the reporting year. The reason for this
was, in particular, to make up for delayed aircraft deliveries
and expand capacities in the busy summer months.

Ongoing fleet modernisation improves the offering

for passengers as well as cost efficiency and reduces
emissions

The Lufthansa Group has made important decisions in recent
years in relation to the ongoing modernisation of its fleet.

In particular, this entails the retirement of larger four-engine
aircraft, which are less fuel-efficient. At the same time, the
Group is exploiting market opportunities in order to move
forward with fleet modernisation and to purchase modern
aircraft at short notice and attractive conditions.

The Lufthansa Group expanded its existing aircraft orders in
the reporting year and ordered another seven 787-9s and
15 aircraft from the A350 family (ten A350-1000s and five
A350-900s). The procurement of these 22 ultramodern
long-haul aircraft will result in a further lasting improvement
in the fleet’s efficiency. The aircraft have up to 30% lower
fuel consumption and carbon emissions compared with their
direct predecessor models. They therefore make an important
contribution to the ongoing development of the long-haul
fleet, lower operating costs, reduced fleet range and more
sustainable flying.

In addition, the Lufthansa Group ordered a total of 80 ultra-
modern short- and medium-haul aircraft at the end of 2023.
These were 40 Airbus A220-300s and 40 Boeing 737-8
MAXs. The aircraft are expected to be delivered between
2026 and 2032. Purchase options were also agreed for
another 20 A220-300s, 60 B737-8 MAXs and 40 aircraft
from the A320neo family.
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At year-end 2023, there were 253 aircraft on the Lufthansa
Group’s order list. There are also options to buy a further 161
aircraft. New aircraft are allocated centrally to the respective
airline fleets shortly before delivery.

FLEET ORDERS LUFTHANSA GROUP

Fixed orders? Deliveries Options
Long-haul fleet
Airbus A350 42 2024 to 2031
Boeing 787 34 2024 to 2028 13
Boeing 777 20 2025 to 2028 24
Boeing 777F 8 2024 to 2030
Short-haul fleet
Airbus A220 40 2026 to 2031 24
Airbus A320neo 46 2024 to 2028 40
Airbus A321neo 23 2024 t0 2028
Boeing 737 40 2027 to 2032 60
Total aircraft 253 2024 to 2032 161

" Excluding contracted leases.

Flexible fleet planning enables adaptation to market
developments

The Lufthansa Group is expecting the delivery of at least

30 aircraft in financial year 2024, including short-haul aircraft
from the A320neo family, long-haul A350 and Boeing 787
aircraft, and one Boeing 777F cargo aircraft. The new seats
from the Allegris generation are expected to be introduced for
the first time in the A350 and Boeing 787 aircraft. Some of
these aircraft will probably be procured through leases. In line
with the planning, seven aircraft are to be sold or their leases
ended in 2024. This planning is monitored continuously.
The Group can modify the capacity on offer by extending or
shortening temporary decommissioning, delaying or bringing
forward planned retirements and by taking out wet leases to
match stronger or weaker than planned demand.
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Potential material defects in components of the PW1000G
engine family mean that the parts concerned will be inspected
in the short term for safety reasons. An average of around 20
aircraft in the Lufthansa Group will therefore not be available
for service in 2024. The aircraft concerned are A320neo and
A321neo models, as well as some replacement engines. A
total of 64 aircraft in the Lufthansa Group are affected. The
intention is to mitigate the effects on capacity by acquiring
additional replacement engines, extending the useful life of
existing aircraft and additional wet leases. The Group is in
negotiations with the manufacturer of the engine concerned
to obtain compensation for the financial impact.

Long-term fleet strategy aims to standardise and reduce
aircraft models

Aircraft from Airbus and Boeing make up the majority of the
Lufthansa Group fleet. Aircraft from Bombardier and Embraer
are also deployed on short-haul routes.

As part of the long-term fleet strategy, the number of aircraft
models operated on long-haul routes is continuously being
lowered to reduce complexity further throughout the Group.
The orders placed in the years 2019 to 2023 for a total of

34 A350-900s (including four used aircraft), ten new A350-
1000s and 39 new 787-9s, along with leases for another six
A350-900s, form the basis for the structural modernisation
and optimisation of the long-haul fleet.

The complete retirement of the aircraft types 747-400, 777-
200ER, A340-600, A340-300, A330-200 and 767-300ER is
offset by the introduction of the new A350-1000s, 787-9s and
777-9s. The Group expects significant cost savings from these
measures, especially in the areas of crew training, maintenance
and operations.
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Group-wide engine management realises synergies

The Lufthansa Group has introduced engine management
throughout the Group in order to achieve synergies in the
engine business too. The intention is to increase the number
of usable flight hours per engine (green time) and to benefit
from the joint use of replacement engines and the joint
purchase of MRO services for all Group airlines.

The Lufthansa Group continues to own a significant share
of the fleet

Overall, 89% (previous year: 90%) of the total fleet is owned
in economic terms by the Lufthansa Group, and 11% (previous
year: 10%) is leased. More than 85% (previous year: 84%) of
the owned fleet is unencumbered, i.e. not used as collateral
under financing arrangements.

The owned aircraft provide a high degree of operational flexi-
bility. In order to respond flexibly to fluctuations in demand
and adjust capacity at short notice, depreciated aircraft can
at short notice remain in service for longer or be retired before
their planned phase-out. The aircraft can also be used as
collateral in financing activities. In contrast, leases enable a
quicker response to market and technological changes.
They also reduce capital usage when compared with purchas-
ing new aircraft. The Group intends to expand the proportion
of its fleet which is leased in the medium to long-term.
Financial strategy and value-based management, p. 23.
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Route network

Route network of the Lufthansa Group significantly
expanded

As part of the multi-hub strategy, Lufthansa Airlines, SWISS,
Austrian Airlines and Brussels Airlines offer their passengers

a broad range of flights from these airlines’ hubs in Frankfurt,
Munich and Zurich as well as Vienna and Brussels. The regional
Group airlines Lufthansa Cityline, Lufthansa City Airlines and
Air Dolomiti provide short-haul feeder services for the network
airlines. The network airlines are supplemented on long-haul
routes by the route networks of the alliance and joint venture
partners, which offer extensive transfer connections. Eurowings
provides a comprehensive range of direct connections for
European short- and medium-haul destinations. Eurowings
has expanded its presence in point-to-point traffic, with new
bases in Hanover, Nuremberg and Graz and new connections
from Germany to Dubai. Discover Airlines, operating under a
new brand name, and Edelweiss, the Lufthansa Group’s holiday
airlines, focus on tourism destinations for short-, medium- and
long-haul flights and thus supplement the capacity of the hubs.

LUFTHANSA GROUP ANNUAL REPORT 2023

During the reporting year, the Lufthansa Group continued to
expand its route network. The number of destinations on offer
was around 96% of the pre-crisis level in the summer season.
Available capacity also increased steadily in 2023 and for the
full year came to some 84% of its pre-crisis level, even reach-
ing 89% in the fourth quarter.

Available capacity on European short- and medium-haul routes
was 91% of that in 2019 on average. In the fourth quarter it
came to 96%. A recovery was also seen on intercontinental
routes. Available capacity in the fourth quarter of 2023 was at
85%. Transatlantic traffic is already back at more than 90%,
with Asian routes still at 74% of their pre-crisis capacity. This
is primarily a reflection of the slower recovery in air traffic on
routes to and from China and Japan.

Russian airspace remains closed to the airlines of the Lufthansa
Group as a result of the sanctions imposed due to Russia’s
invasion of Ukraine. This means that flight routes to Japan,
South Korea, China and Central Asia are still significantly longer
in some cases. Continental direct flights to Russia and Ukraine
remain suspended. Ongoing tensions in the Middle East also
meant that flights to Tel Aviv and Beirut had to be temporarily
suspended in the fourth quarter of 2023.
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NUMBER OF EMPLOYEES
as of 31 Dec

2023

96,677

EMPLOYEES BY BUSINESS SEGMENTS

in %

EMPLOYEES BY REGION

in %

138,353 110,065 105920 109,509

2019 2020 2021 2022 2023

Additional Businesses
and Group Functions 9

Ny

Logistics 4 )

MRO 24 —— Passenger Airlines 63

Middle East /Africa 1
America 3
Asia/Pacific 5 ——————————— W

Rest of Europe 26

Germany 65

EMPLOYEES

Human resources management prepares the Company for
the future and creates prospects for employees

The current geopolitical, economic and demographic develop-
ments, as well as existing megatrends, have a material influ-
ence on the performance of the Lufthansa Group. With their
know-how and wide-ranging talents, our employees are and
will remain one of the key success factors for the Lufthansa
Group. They ensure reliable flight operations and efficient
administrative processes in an air traffic system characterised
by operational challenges and volatility. Furthermore, they
largely define the passenger experience and embody the
aspiration of Lufthansa Group Airlines to be a premium brand.

Corporate culture plays a key role here, both for the Compa-
ny’s commercial success and for the engagement and welfare
of employees. It reflects the needs of society, employees and
the Company and its shareholders, and is taken into account
in operational decisions. The Lufthansa Group continues to
attach great importance to offering attractive perspectives
for future employees and to retaining existing staff in the long
term. With these goals in mind, the Lufthansa Group has initi-
ated the Cultural Journey programme, which in addition to
promoting the various cultures specific to different societies,
also aims to strengthen its own corporate culture.

The “involve me!” employee survey carried out across the
Company makes it possible to identify strategic action areas
that are addressed by the Group HR strategy. This centres on
a holistic approach in relation to equal opportunity and diversity,
training opportunities for all employees, intensive promotion
of talent and a balance between work and private life. It also
includes a wide variety of careers that enable employees to
take on different roles. The Lufthansa Group aspires to a fair
and partnership-based relationship with its employees, to
become an even more attractive employer and to retain talent
in the long term. -> Combined non-financial declaration/
Employee concerns, p. 98.

Number of employees down in the reporting year due to
disposal of LSG Group

At year-end 2023, the Lufthansa Group had 96,677 employees
worldwide (previous year: 109,509). This meant that the num-
ber of employees decreased by 12,832, or 12%. The decline is
principally due to the sale of the LSG Group and the related
departure from the Group of more than 20,000 staff. New
recruitment only partially made up for the effect of selling the
LSG Group, natural staff turnover and retirement. The number
of employees was 41,676 or 30% lower than before the crisis
(31 December 2019:138,353).

Translated into full-time positions, the Group had 80,583
employees at the end of 2023 (previous year: 93,690). This
represents a decline of 13,107, or 14% against the previous year.

In Germany, the Group had 63,176 employees: this is 3,881,

or /%, more than in the previous year (previous year: 59,295).
The increase was driven by extensive recruitment. The Group’s
employees in Germany account for 65% of its overall work-
force (previous year: 54%). The number of employees outside
Germany decreased by 16,713, or 33%, to 33,501 (previous
year: 50,214).

As of the reporting date, the average age of the workforce
was 42.6 years (previous year: 42.9 years). Average seniority
was 14.2 years (previous year: 13.4 years). 35% of employees
worked part-time in the reporting year (previous year: 30%).
The fluctuation rate fell to 7%, largely thanks to the disposal
of the LSG Group (previous year: 15%).
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At year-end, 1,640 apprentices were in training for around
30 occupations and various combined degree courses offered
by the Lufthansa Group worldwide (previous year: 1,245).

Extensive recruitment measures are also planned for the 2024
financial year, in order to attract highly motivated staff

with the right skills and abilities. The focus will in particular

be on the operational areas, as well as on [T, finance and
administration.

Important agreements signed with collective bargaining
partners

In the 2023 financial year, the Lufthansa Group, represented
by the relevant industry associations or its subsidiaries,
concluded a large number of new wage agreements with its
collective bargaining partners. This meant that, at the end
of 2023, collective bargaining agreements had been con-
cluded and were in force for all of the workforce of Deutsche
Lufthansa AG covered by these agreements and for the vast
majority of employees involved in the Lufthansa Group’s main
companies. > Opportunities and risk report, Staff, p. 133.

In the reporting year, the Employers’ Federation for Air Trans-
port Companies (AGVL) reached a wide-ranging agreement
with the Vereinigung Cockpit pilots’ union (VC) for Lufthansa
Airlines and Lufthansa Cargo. It includes both elements of
the wage settlement, such as the increase in basic pay of at
least 18% over the duration of the agreement, a standardised
remuneration structure and the payment of an inflation
compensation premium, and elements of the framework
agreement.Agreement was also reached on topics such as
planning leisure time, flight service times and rest times.
The new agreements run until at least 31 December 2026.
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The framework agreement signed between the UFO trade
union for cabin crew and AGVL for Deutsche Lufthansa AG on
31 October 2022 remains unchanged. The wage settlement
also signed on 31 October 2022 was terminated by UFO.

On 4 August 2022, the Employers’ Federation for Air Transport
Companies (AGVL) and the trade union Vereinigte Dienst-
leistungsgewerkschaft e.V. (ver.di) reached a new wage
agreement for the roughly 20,000 ground staff covered by
collective bargaining agreements in Germany, particularly at
Deutsche Lufthansa AG, Lufthansa Technik AG and Lufthansa
Cargo AG. This agreement was terminated as of 31 Decem-
ber 2023. Basic pay was increased in January 2023 by a fixed
sum of EUR 125 or a linear increase of 2.5%. A further increase
in basic pay by 2.5% took effect on this basis in July 2023.

In early 2023, a new wage agreement with a term of at least
four years was signed for the pilots at SWISS. It includes

an inflation offset of 2% and a wage increase of 2.3%. Agree-
ments were also reached that make it easier to plan leisure
time. SWISS signed another collective agreement with the
cabin union kapers on 20 October 2023. As in the previous
year, a wage adjustment was agreed for SWISS ground staff
in Switzerland, which came to an average of 2% for 2024.
Pension contributions by the employer were also raised by

1 percentage point.

Ongoing high inflation in 2023 meant that when the respec-
tive crisis packages came to an end, the collective bargaining
partners at Austrian Airlines agreed on a collective wage
increase of 11% from 1 March 2023 for commercial, technical
and in-flight staff. An inflation offset premium was also paid
and entry-level salaries (after the collective increase) were
raised for some occupations.
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The employees of Brussels Airlines in Belgium benefit from a
statutory indexation arrangement. All of its employees thus
received a 2% pay rise in 2023. A “cafeteria model” has also
applied to some of the employees since 2021. It enables
employees to pick individual social benefits from the Company.
They are granted points for this purpose and can redeem them
as they wish.

A new framework agreement was signed with the VC trade
union for the pilots at Eurowings GmbH on 3 August 2023.
Negotiations began in November 2023 on a replacement for
the wage settlement terminated in March 2023. The outlines
of a new framework and wage agreement were set with the
trade union ver.di for the cabin staff at Eurowings GmbH.
Collective agreements were also reached in Spain, Austria,
Czech Republic and Sweden for cockpit and cabin crew at
Eurowings Europe.

Developing a new partnership between social partners
Within the scope of its social and collective bargaining policies,
the Lufthansa Group aims to define good working conditions
and fair salary arrangements which strike a balance between
the interests of employers and employees in every part of the
Group. Longer-term agreements establish planning certainty
for both sides. The agreements concluded in the reporting
year achieved this in some contexts. They were helped above
all by a common understanding of the current challenges, and
a focused, constructive working relationship between the social
and collective bargaining partners and the Lufthansa Group.
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RESEARCH AND DEVELOPMENT

The Lufthansa Group and its companies work continuously -
both individually and across segments - on innovative services
and products. Most of these activities are run separately in
the individual segments since they focus on different areas.
Internal measures are supported by a wide range of external
cooperation arrangements. -> Business segments, p. 52.

Passenger Airlines focus on improving the travel experience
and sustainability activities

The Lufthansa Group Passenger Airlines are focusing on
further improvements to the customer’s travel experience
along the entire travel chain and on expanding their
sustainability activities.

Forinstance, through its refit with Lufthansa Allegris and
SWISS Senses product generation seating, Lufthansa Airlines
and SWISS offer their passengers a new travel experience in
every class on long-haul routes. Further examples are
expanded digital service channels such as the chatbot and
automated customer services. The digital customer portal
enables customers to access all relevant information and
resolve issues quickly and easily thanks to new, interactive
self-service options.

In addition, in the reporting year the passenger airlines expanded
their more climate-friendly flight options. The introduction of
“green fares”, which include carbon offsets in the price, for
European flights was followed by a trial roll-out to selected
long-haul routes in the reporting year. All passengers also
have the option of offsetting or reducing their carbon
emissions in the course of the booking process by means

of high-quality offset programmes and the purchase of
sustainable aviation fuel (SAF).
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The Lufthansa Group again collaborated with several

companies and research institutes in the reporting year that
research, promote and produce sustainable fuels.
non-financial declaration/Climate protection, p. 79.

Combined

Aviation Services expand digital products and services
Lufthansa Cargo introduced a new product speed in the
reporting year. Time-critical freight can now be transported
even faster to its destination with td.Zoom. Its digital services
have also been expanded. A direct API-connection to the
Lufthansa Cargo systems was introduced for key accounts, for
instance, and the eCommerce sector was developed further.
With its “Sustainable Choice” service, Lufthansa Cargo also
offers its customers a carbon-neutral transport option for their
freight.

The independent platform AVIATAR developed by Lufthansa
Technik supports customers worldwide in real time with the
management of complex fleet operations and helps to diag-
nose errors in individual components, thus supporting the
digital transformation of aviation. At the end of the reporting
year, the data from some 3,300 aircraft were already
connected to the AVIATAR platform.

In addition, together with BASF, Lufthansa Technik started
regular use of the fuel-saving surface technology “Aero-
SHARK™. By the end of the reporting year, 15 Boeing 777
aircraft at Lufthansa Cargo and SWISS had been equipped
with this new type of surface.

In the fourth quarter of 2023, Lufthansa Technik started to
prepare an Airbus A320 previously used by Lufthansa Airlines
as a real-life laboratory for testing maintenance and ground
processes for hydrogen-powered aircraft of the future. The
Hydrogen Aviation Lab will enable early research to be carried
out under realistic conditions into the safe use of a potential
energy source for future aviation.
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Lufthansa Aviation Training presented an innovative virtual
reality system for pilot training in cooperation with Airbus in
the reporting year. The Virtual Procedure Trainer consists of
VR goggles and a laptop, and creates an authentic 3D view of
an aircraft cockpit in which standard procedures can be
trained.

Innovation and digitalisation driven by various platforms
Innovation and digitalisation are being advanced by the
Lufthansa Group as well as in close collaboration with the
Lufthansa Innovation Hub. It works on new digital business
models, partnerships and strategic investments along the
entire travel and mobility chain. The Uptrip app was launched
in the reporting year. It enables passengers to obtain trading
cards for their used boarding passes, which can then be
swapped for rewards, such as access to Lufthansa Group
lounges or status miles.

The Lufthansa Group Digital Hangar brings together the
digital talents in the Lufthansa Group and pools know-how,
innovation and processes in an agile structure. It aims to set
new technological trends and standards and to create real
value for customers. By delivering digital products faster and
in high quality, the aim is to significantly improve customer
satisfaction and the digital user experience. The Lufthansa
Group Digital Hangar is intended to position the Lufthansa
Group as a digital trendsetter.

In addition, via the Lufthansa Group CleanTech Hub the latest
climate-related technologies are being pooled and sustainable
innovations developed. These relate to the following five core
areas: Alternative Fuels and Emissions, Aircraft-Related
Hardware, Digital Solutions and Processes, Waste and Circular
Economy, and Transport of Tomorrow and Beyond.
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LEGAL AND REGULATORY FACTORS

The Lufthansa Group is subject to numerous national and
European regulations. These regulations have an impact on
costs and - if they do not cover non-European competitors -
the international competitiveness of the Company.

Future climate protection policy in Germany and Europe is
particularly relevant in this respect, but laws on data and
consumer protection, air traffic taxes, aviation security fees,
take-off and landing rights or night-flight bans also affect
the Lufthansa Group and the whole aviation sector.

In summer 2021, the European Commission presented its Fit
for 55 legislative package, which contains regulatory proposals
for achieving the European climate protection objectives of
cutting carbon emissions by 55% compared with 1990. Out
of a total of 13 legislative initiatives, three are particularly rele-
vant for aviation: the reform of emissions trading (EU-ETS),
the blending quota for sustainable aircraft fuel (ReFuelEU
Aviation) and the proposal to introduce a kerosene tax (energy
tax directive). As co-legislators, the European Parliament and
the Council of the European Union agreed in spring 2023 to
gradually reduce the total number of emissions certificates
and abolish the previous “free” allocations completely from
2026. This will make feeder traffic by European airlines more
expensive and entails the risk of an increasing displacement
of long-haul connections to hubs outside Europe, which

will further distort competition between EU airlines and their
competitors from the Middle East. To create an incentive

to use sustainable fuels (SAF), which are many times more
expensive than fossil kerosene, a decision was taken to provide
a limited contingent of emissions certificates on a temporary
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basis to compensate for the additional costs of SAF. However,
this does not sufficiently offset the additional expenses nor
establish a level playing field with airlines from outside the
EU. The Lufthansa Group believes that the European blending
quotas for sustainable aviation fuel adopted in summer 2023
(ReFuelEU Aviation) will result in significant competitive
disadvantages in intercontinental traffic and a steep increase
in costs for European airlines, because airlines from outside
Europe with transfer stops near Europe could then continue
to use unblended fuel for part of the journey. It has not been
taken into account to date that SAF will not be available in
sufficient quantities or at competitive prices for the foresee-
able future.

The discussion about the introduction of a European kerosene
tax would exacerbate the problem of global competitiveness.
In the further legislative process, the Lufthansa Group believes
improvements are urgently required to maintain the competi-
tiveness of the airlines based in the EU and to avoid the transfer
of traffic and emissions that is known as the carbon leakage
effect. The increase in national air traffic tax currently under
discussion in Germany will further increase the costs of air
transport in Germany, which are already high by European
standards, and so make Germany’s connections to European
and global air traffic even worse, with no benefit for the climate.
Combined non-financial declaration/Climate protection, p. 79.

More stringent European and national consumer protection
policies may lead to higher costs for the Lufthansa Group and
its customers. These include, in particular, efforts to introduce
insolvency protection for flights, automating compensation
payments, and banning advance payment for tickets and
no-show clauses.
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The draft of a new regulation for the Single European Sky
that was published by the European Commission in September
2020 aims to increase the efficiency of air traffic control within
the EU and thus offers the potential for reducing not only
carbon emissions and saving fuel but also avoiding delayed
flights. The political discussions are still underway. A result
that falls short of the status quo or a fundamental failure of the
negotiations would have a negative impact on the regularity
and punctuality of European air traffic.

The temporary exemptions on the use of take-off and landing
rights (slots) that were granted because of the coronavirus
pandemic and the Russian invasion of Ukraine have expired.
The basic rules now apply again, which is that the right to
reallocation of slots in subsequent periods is lost if they have
been used less than 80% of the time in a flight period. No
proposal to revise the rules is expected before the European
elections in June 2024. In the long term, capacity restrictions
for environmental and climate reasons may become part of
the political debate, as is currently the case at Amsterdam
Airport.
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MACROECONOMIC SITUATION
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m Global economic growth slows, economic
output in Germany is down.

m Oil price trending downwards overall with wide
fluctuations.

m Strong growth in global passenger traffic,
airfreight market returns to normal.

m Course of business at the Lufthansa Group
shaped by strong demand for flights and
robust growth in the MRO business segment.

m | ufthansa Group reports revenue
of EUR 35.4bn.

m Adjusted EBIT of EUR 2.7bn up by 76% on the
previous year, Adjusted EBIT margin at 7.6%.

m SWISS, Austrian Airlines, Brussels Airlines,
Eurowings and Lufthansa Technik report
record results.

m Adjusted free cash flow of Lufthansa Group at
EUR 1.8bn.

m Balance sheet even stronger.

CURRENCY DEVELOPMENT EUR 1in foreign currency

GDP DEVELOPMENT

in % 20237 2022 2021 2020 2019
World 2.7 31 6.2 -29 2.7
Europe 0.6 3.7 6.5 -5.8 1.7

Germany -0.2 19 3.1 -4.2 11
North America 2.3 21 5.8 -2.4 2.4
South America? 2.2 4.0 7. -6.6 0.8
Asia/Pacific 4.5 3.3 6.6 -0.7 4.0

China 5.4 3.0 8.5 2.2 6.0
Middle East 1.0 7.0 4.6 -4.4 1.2
Africa 31 39 4.7 -2.2 2.6

Source: Global Insight World Overview as of 15 Jan 2024.
" Forecast.
2 Excluding Venezuela.

World economic growth subdued in financial year 2023
Global economic growth slowed in 2023. The growth rate was
2.7%, compared with 3.1% the previous year. Asia/Pacific is
the region with the fastest growth rate at 4.5% (previous year:
3.3%). In Europe, the economy grew by 0.6% (previous year:
3.7%). Economic output in Germany fell by 0.2% (previous
year: +1.9%).

Euro up against most main currencies

On average, the euro gained against most main currencies
over the course of the year. The average exchange rate against
the US dollar was 3% higher than the previous year. The euro
likewise gained in value against the Chinese renminbi and the
Japanese yen, by 8% and 10% respectively. The euro rose by
2% against the British pound. Against the Swiss franc, the euro
fell by an average of 3%.

2023 2022 2021 2020 2019
usb 1.0814 1.0510 11821 11402 1192
JPY 151.68 137.86 129.84 12177 122.01
CHF 0.9714 1.0040 1.0807 1.0704 1122
CNY 7.6521 7.0754 7.6243 7.8688 77320
GBP 0.8695 0.8523 0.8595 0.8888 0.8769

Source: Bloomberg, annual average daily price.

Continuous drop in the inflation rate

The rate of inflation declined in the reporting year. At the end
of 2023, it averaged 5.5% worldwide (previous year: 9.7%).
The rate of inflation was 2.9% in Europe and 3.7% in Germany.
Central banks again raised base rates significantly in the
reporting year to combat inflation. The US Fed increased
interest rates four times to 5.5%. The European Central Bank
also increased its prime rate to 4.5% in six rate hikes.

Strong rise in average short- and long-term interest rates
Short- and long-term interest rates experienced strong
increases on average over the year. Short-term rates climbed
to levels last seen in 2008. The 6-month Euribor stood at an
average of 3.69% in 2023. In the long-term segment, the
average 10-year euro swap increased significantly year-on-
year, from 1.93% to 3.05%.
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INTEREST RATE DEVELOPMENT in %

Instrument 2023 2022 2021 2020 2019
6-month Euribor

Average rate 3.69 0.68 -0.52 -0.37 -0.30
6-month Euribor

Year-end level 3.86 2.69 -0.55 -0.53 -0.32
10-year euro swap

Average rate 3.05 193 0.05 -0.14 0.26
10-year euro swap

Year-end level 2.49 3.20 0.30 -0.26 0.21

Source: Bloomberg.

The discount rate applied for discounting the pension obliga-
tions of Deutsche Lufthansa AG, which is derived from the
average return on a basket of investment-grade corporate
bonds, stood at 3.6%, which is 0.6 percentage points lower
than the previous year's figure of 4.2%.

Oil price down on the previous year

Following severe turbulence in 2022, the oil market was some-
what calmer in 2023. With prices between USD 72/barrel and
USD 97/barrel, the average for 2023 was USD 82.18/barrel,
which is 17% lower than the previous year (previous year:
USD 99.03/barrel). On 31 December 2023, a barrel of Brent
Crude cost USD 77.04 (year-end 2022: USD 85.91/barrel).

The jet crack, the price difference between crude oil and
kerosene, moved between USD 13.71/barrel and USD 57.02/
barrel in 2023. On average over the year, it traded at USD
209.58/barrel and thus 27% lower than in the previous year.
On 31 December 2023, the jet crack was USD 29.18/barrel
(year-end 2022: USD 39.34/barrel).

PRICE DEVELOPMENT OF CRUDE OIL AND KEROSENE
in USD/t
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Source: Lufthansa, based on market data.

SECTOR DEVELOPMENTS

Continued significant growth in global passenger traffic
The global air transport industry saw significant increases in
passenger traffic in 2023 and so increased its sales. Greater
demand for flights, especially to holiday destinations, prompted
a further expansion of capacity in global passenger traffic.

Developments at the start of the previous year were still
adversely affected by the Omicron coronavirus variant, and in
summer by the temporary overload of the air traffic system.
The latter continued to have an effect in the reporting year,
albeit to a lesser extent.

Total sales worldwide (revenue passenger-kilometres) in the
reporting year increased by 37% on the previous year according
to figures published by the International Air Transport Asso-
ciation (IATA) (previous year: 65%). Airlines from the Asia/Pacific
region registered the strongest growth, of 96% (previous year:
32%), followed by airlines from Africa with 36% (previous year:
84%). In the same period, airlines from Europe posted a 20%
increase (previous year: 104%).
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Global revenue passenger-kilometres were down by 6% com-
pared with the pre-crisis level of financial year 2019. European
airlines reported a decline of 5% from the pre-crisis level,
however.

SALES PERFORMANCE IN THE AIRLINE INDUSTRY

in % compared Passenger- Cargo tonne-
with previous year kilometres kilometres
Europe 20 -4
North America 15 -6
Central and South America 17

Asia/Pacific 96 1
Middle East 32 2
Africa 36 -2
Global 37 -2

Source: IATA Air Passenger/Air Freight Market Analysis (12/2023).

Yields in global passenger traffic increased by 6.2% in finan-
cial year 2023 according to IATA (previous year: 9.5%) In the
2023 financial year, yields thus exceeded the pre-crisis level
by 11.0%.

Global freight traffic returns to normal after record levels
seen during the pandemic

The global market for airfreight returned to normal in the 2023
financial year compared with the record levels reported during
the coronavirus pandemic, but remained at a high level in
historical terms. According to IATA, global airfreight volumes
(measured in revenue cargo tonne-kilometres) decreased by
2% year-on-year in 2023 (previous year: decline of 8%). Euro-
pean providers saw a decrease of 4% (previous year: decline
of 12%).

Yields in global airfreight traffic decreased by 32.2% year-on-
year according to IATA (previous year: increase of 7.0%), due
to greater belly capacities for freight in passenger aircraft and
the weak global macroeconomic performance. Yields still
exceeded the pre-crisis level by 41.3%, however.
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Global airline industry expects profits again

The positive developments in passenger traffic in financial
year 2023 mean that the global airline industry expects a
significant increase in profits year-on-year. IATA predicts that
the industry will realise a net profit of USD 23bn for the 2023
financial year (previous year: net loss of USD 4bn). Prior to
the coronavirus crisis, the airline industry generated net profit
of USD 26bn in financial year 2019.

On a regional basis, the highest profits are expected in
North America at USD 14bn (previous year: USD 9bn).
European airlines are forecast to generate net profit of
USD 8bn (previous year: USD 4bn).

Consolidated financial statements

EARNINGS DEVELOPMENT IN THE AIRLINE INDUSTRY

in USD bn 20237 2022
Europe 8

North America 14

Central and South America -1 -4
Asia/Pacific 0 -14
Middle East 3 1
Africa =1 -1
Industry 23 -4
U Forecast.

Source: IATA Industry Statistics (12/2023).

Remuneration report Further information

MRO market back at pre-crisis level

The aircraft maintenance, repair and overhaul (MRO) business
also performed well in the reporting year. The strong level

of demand for flights prompted a further rise in demand for
maintenance and repair services. The advisory company

ICF predicted that the market volume will grow by 10% year-
on-year in 2023 to USD 92bn (previous year: USD 84bn). This
exceeded the pre-crisis level of USD 91bn. Around USD 28bn
is attributable to the Americas region (98% of the pre-crisis
level), USD 31bn to the EMEA region (Europa, Middle East
and Africa, 97% of the pre-crisis level) and USD 33bn to the
APAC region (Asia/Pacific 108% of the pre-crisis level). The
lifting of all coronavirus restrictions in China in particular made
a considerable contribution to the increase in flight hours and
thus to demand for maintenance services. Demand in the
EMEA and Americas regions was also very strong, although
inflation remains high.

COURSE OF BUSINESS

Overview of business developments and
comparison with original forecast

The course of business was shaped by strong demand for
flights and robust growth in the MRO business segment
The Lufthansa Group performed well in financial year 2023.
The recovery in demand for flights after the coronavirus
pandemic continued. Demand for leisure travel increased,
especially in the summer months. Capacity in the Passenger
Airlines segment was therefore continuously expanded.
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Available capacity at Passenger Airlines was 16% higher overall
in the 2023 financial year than in the previous year and thus
reached 84% of the pre-crisis level from 2019. In view of the
positive trend in demand in the passenger business, Passenger
Airlines were able to significantly increase their yields.

The Lufthansa Group’s cargo business declined in financial year
2023 as the entire sector returned to normal. Yields in the
Logistics segment stabilised in the second half-year, however,
at a level still significantly higher than before the crisis. The
freight business also reported volumes trending upwards
again towards year-end.

In the MRO segment the continued increase in the number
of flights resulted in significantly higher demand for maintenance
and repair services. Earnings improved again as a result, despite
inflation-related cost increases.

Adjusted EBIT of EUR 2,682m

Revenue at the Lufthansa Group increased by 15% year-on-year
to EUR 35,442m (previous year: EUR 30,895m), primarily due
to the further expansion of the flight programme, increasing
unit revenues and strong growth in the MRO business segment.

The Lufthansa Group's earnings also improved significantly
year-on-year over the course of the 2023 financial year.
Adjusted EBIT increased by 76% to EUR 2,682m (previous year:
EUR 1,520m). This is the third-best result in the company’s
history. The Adjusted EBIT margin amounted to 7.6% (previous
year: 4.9%). EBIT improved by 88% to EUR 2,669m (previous
year: EUR 1,419m).
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All Passenger Airlines and the MRO business segment
achieved an increase in Adjusted EBIT in financial year 2023.
SWISS, Austrian Airlines, Brussels Airlines, Eurowings and
Lufthansa Technik reported record results in the reporting
year. Only the Logistics business segment saw a decline in
earnings due to normalisation across the industry.
segments, p. 52.

Business

The net result attributable to shareholders of Deutsche
Lufthansa AG in the reporting year came to EUR 1,673m
(previous year: EUR 791m).

Adjusted free cash flow remains high

Net capital expenditure increased by 23% to EUR 2,811m
(previous year: EUR 2,286m) in the 2023 financial year. Cash
flow from operating activities decreased year on year to

EUR 4,945m (previous year: EUR 5,168m), primarily due to
the lower cash inflow from changes in working capital, which
more than offset the increase in EBITDA. A strong increase in
advance bookings after the coronavirus pandemic had been
overcome supported the change in working capital in the
previous year.

Adjusted free cash flow, which includes cash outflows for
leases in addition to the cash flow from investing activities,
decreased by 27% to EUR 1,846m in financial year 2023
(previous year: EUR 2,526m) due to the decline in operating
cash flow and increased net capital expenditure in particular
in connection with the modernisation of the fleet. This meant
that the figure was still significantly higher than the average
of the pre-crisis years, however.

Consolidated financial statements

Remuneration report Further information

Balance sheet even stronger in the reporting year

The balance sheet was made even stronger in financial year
2023. Positive free cash flow brought net indebtedness
down to EUR 5,682m, a reduction of 17% on year-end 2022
(31 December 2022: EUR 6,871m). Net pension obligations
rose by EUR 683m to EUR 2,676m compared with the level
at the end of 2022 (31 December 2022: EUR 1,993m).

The ratio between the total of net indebtedness plus net
pension obligations and equity was 46:54 as of 31 Decem-
ber 2023 (31 December 2022: 51:49).

At the end of the 2023 financial year, the Group had available
liquidity of EUR 10.4bn, unchanged to the previous year.
Financial position, p. 44.

Key performance indicators improve significantly

as forecast

The Lufthansa Group announced its outlook for the 2023
financial year with the publication of the Annual Report 2022
on 3 March 2023. Due to the positive business performance,
the earnings forecast of a significant year-on-year increase in
Adjusted EBIT was specified over the course of the year. The
expectation of Adjusted EBIT of at least EUR 2.6bn
announced in August 2023 was ultimately achieved.
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DEVELOPMENT OF SIGNIFICANT KPIS

Result Result Forecast for Result
20227 20227 20237 2023
significant
Revenue £€m 32,770 30,895 increase 35,442
significant
Adjusted EBIT €m 1,509 1,520 increase 2,682
above
Net capital previous
expenditure €m 2,286 2,286 year 2,811
significantly
positive,
but below
Adjusted free previous
Cash flow £€m 2,526 2,526 year 1,846
below
Net previous
indebtedness €m 6,871 6,871 year 5,682
significant
Adjusted ROCE % 7.3 7.6 increase 1341
Specific CO, slight
emissions grammes Q0.0 Q0.0 decline 88.4

U As stated in the Annual Report 2022.
2 As stated in the Annual Report 2023, including adjustments of previous-year figures.
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Significant events

Contracts of Carsten Spohr and Remco Steenbergen
extended ahead of schedule

On 2 March 2023, the Supervisory Board of Deutsche
Lufthansa AG appointed Carsten Spohr as Chairman of the
Executive Board for another five years. Carsten Spohr has
been a member of the Executive Board of Deutsche
Lufthansa AG since 2011 and its Chairman since 2014. His
contract was extended until the end of December 2028.

On 2 March 2023, the Supervisory Board also appointed
Remco Steenbergen as Chief Financial Officer for another five
years until the end of December 2028. Remco Steenbergen
has been a member of the Executive Board of Deutsche
Lufthansa AG since 2021 as Chief Financial Officer. On

22 February 2024 it was announced that Remco Steenbergen
would leave the Executive Board on 7 May 2024 by mutual
consent. - Events after the reporting data, p. 39.

Lufthansa Group purchases 22 latest-generation
long-haul aircraft

The Executive Board of Deutsche Lufthansa AG has decided
to order ten long-haul Airbus A350-1000s, five long-haul
A350-900s and seven long-haul Boeing 787-9 Dreamliners.
The Supervisory Board of Deutsche Lufthansa AG agreed to
the acquisition of these aircraft on 2 March 2023.

They are due to be delivered to the Lufthansa Group from the
middle of the decade onwards. At list prices, the overall order
volume is around USD 7.5bn. - Fleet, p. 27.

Consolidated financial statements

Remuneration report Further information

Shareholders approve all Annual General Meeting

agenda items

The virtual Annual General Meeting of Deutsche Lufthansa AG
took place on 9 May 2023. The shareholders approved all of
the items on the agenda by a large majority.

Karl-Ludwig Kley, acting Chairman of the Supervisory Board,
and Carsten Knobel, Chairman of the Executive Board and
CEO of Henkel AG & Co. KGaA, were re-elected to the Super-
visory Board. Karl Gernandt, Executive Chairman of Kihne
Holding AG, was newly elected to the Supervisory Board.

Lufthansa Group reaches agreement to acquire 41%

of ITA Airways

On 25 May 2023, Deutsche Lufthansa AG and ltaly’s Ministry
of Economy and Finance reached an agreement on the acquisi-
tion of a non-controlling interest in the country’s national airline
ITA Airways. Deutsche Lufthansa AG applied to the European
Commission in Brussels for approval to acquire the minority
stake on 30 November 2023. The European Commission
notified the Company in January 2024 that it will carry out an
in-depth review of the planned investment in a second phase.

Following approval of the transaction by the authorities and
closing, Deutsche Lufthansa AG will obtain a 41% stake in
ITA Airways for EUR 325m within the framework of a capital
increase. Options were also agreed to purchase the remaining
interests at a later date.

Lufthansa Group sells payment specialist AirPlus

to SEB Kort

On 20 June 2023, the Lufthansa Group signed a contract with
SEB Kort Bank AB of Stockholm (Sweden) for the sale of the
AirPlus Group. The purchase price is approximately EUR 450m.
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AirPlus will continue to be a member of the UATP global
payments network after the sale. The transaction is expected
to be completed in summer 2024, subject to the necessary
preparations and required external approvals, primarily from
various financial regulators.

Lufthansa Group and the Vereinigung Cockpit pilots’ union
reach agreement on long-term wage settlement

The Lufthansa Group and the Vereinigung Cockpit pilots’
union have agreed to a long-term wage agreement for the
pilots of Lufthansa Airlines and Lufthansa Cargo. On

10 August 2023, the members of the union voted in favour
of the negotiated outcome, which had been reached shortly
beforehand.

The new wage agreement can be terminated at the earliest
on 31 December 2026 and includes a basic salary increase of
at least 18% over the period. The framework agreement, which
includes improved working conditions for pilots, can be
terminated at the earliest on 31 December 2027. > Employees,
p. 30.

Lufthansa Group sells LSG group to Aurelius

On 4 April 2023, Deutsche Lufthansa AG signed an agreement
with the private equity firm Aurelius on the sale of the LSG
group. The sales transaction closed on 31 October 2023.

The business of the LSG group consists of traditional catering
and onboard retail along with food commerce activities. The
parties have agreed not to disclose the purchase price.

The sale of its Catering division forms part of the Lufthansa
Group's strategy of focusing more on its core airline business.
The European activities of the LSG group had already been
sold off to gategroup in 2019. -> Catering segment, p. 70.
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Fitch Ratings and Standard & Poor’s give Deutsche
Lufthansa AG an investment grade rating

Rating agency Fitch gave Deutsche Lufthansa AG an invest-
ment grade rating of BBB- with a stable outlook in its first
assessment on 1 November 2023. The rating reflects above
all Lufthansa’s leading role in the global aviation industry as
Europe’s biggest network carrier, as well as its creditworthy
diversification across maintenance, repair and overhaul (MRO)
and freight, where the company also has leading global
market positions.

In addition, Standard & Poor’s raised its rating for the Lufthansa
Group to the investment grade BBB- on 4 December 2023.
Standard & Poor’s justified the upgrade with the higher than
expected yields, robust demand for passenger flights and
industry-wide capacity bottlenecks.

Financial strategy, p. 23.

Lufthansa Group remains sole shareholder

in Lufthansa Technik

The Executive Board of the Lufthansa Group decided on

30 November 2023 not to pursue its plans for a sale of a

non-controlling stake in Lufthansa Technik. Growth plans

developed in the preceding months are now to be imple-

mented independently, without the participation of another

shareholder in Lufthansa Technik. To this end, Lufthansa

Technik launched the growth programme Ambition 2030.
MRO business segment, p. 67.

Consolidated financial statements
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Lufthansa Group signs sale-and-lease-back agreement

for twelve short-haul aircraft

The Lufthansa Group has entered into an agreement for the
sale and lease-back of twelve short- and medium-haul aircraft.
The transaction enables the Group to finance capital expendi-
ture in new aircraft with a mix of cash, Japanese operating
leases (JOLCOs) and operating leases. The sale-and-lease-
back transaction supports the modernisation of the Lufthansa
Group Airlines fleet. - Fleet, p. 27.

Lufthansa Group orders 80 new highly efficient short- and
medium-haul aircraft and agrees 120 purchase options

On 19 December 2023, the Supervisory Board of Deutsche
Lufthansa AG approved the Executive Board's resolution to
purchase 80 state-of-the-art short- and medium-haul aircraft.
The agreements with the manufacturers Airbus and Boeing
relate to the purchase of 40 Airbus A220-300s including

20 purchase options, the purchase of 40 Boeing 737-8 MAXs
including 60 purchase options, and purchase options for
another 40 aircraft from the A320 family. The confirmed order
for 80 aircraft is worth around EUR 9bn at list prices. The air-
craft will be delivered between 2026 and 2032. -> Fleet, p. 27.

Events after the reporting period

Moody’s raises rating for Deutsche Lufthansa AG

to investment grade

The rating agency Moody'’s lifted its rating for Deutsche
Lufthansa AG from Bal to the investment grade level Baa3 on
18 January 2024. According to Moody’s, the upgrade was
based on the positive trend in operating profitability at the
Lufthansa Group, which had improved significantly in 2023.

The upgrade by Moody’s means that Deutsche Lufthansa AG is
again rated investment grade by all the leading rating agencies.
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Supervisory Board decides on comprehensive reorganisa-
tion of the Executive Board

The Supervisory Board of Deutsche Lufthansa AG voted to
carry out a wide-ranging reorganisation of the Executive Board
at its meeting on 22 February 2024. The Executive Board is

to be reduced from six to five members and responsibilities
redistributed.

Christina Foerster, Harry Hohmeister and Detlef Kayser will
leave the Executive Board as of 30 June 2024, and Remco
Steenbergen will leave the Executive Board at the close of
7 May 2024, the date of the Annual General Meeting.

New members Grazia Vittadini and Dieter Vranckx will be
appointed to the Executive Board as of 1 July 2024.

Grazia Vittadini, previously at Rolls-Royce Holdings plc,
London, as Chief Technology Officer and Member of the Exec-
utive Team, most recently active as a special consultant, will
lead the MRO and IT function as Chief Technology Officer,
which also includes responsibility for sustainability. Her con-
tract will run for three years.

Dieter Vranckx, previously CEO of SWISS International
Airlines, becomes the Executive Board member for Global
Markets and Commercial Management Hubs. His contract will
also run for three years. The areas of Customer Experience
and Group Brand Management, which were previously part of
Brand Management & Sustainability, are now also his respon-
sibility.

A new candidate is to be found for the position of Chief Finan-
cial Officer. Until the position is filled, Michael Niggemann
will lead the finance function ad interim in addition to his
responsibility on the Executive Board for Personnel, Logis-
tics & Non-Hub Business, (previously Human Resources and
Infrastructure).
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FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE
Earnings position

Impact of LSG group sale on earnings position

Due to the sale of the LSG group to AURELIUS, all the income
and expenses associated with the discontinued Catering busi-
ness have been separated from the respective items in the
income statement and presented as a combined item under
earnings after taxes in the line item “Profit/loss from discon-
tinued operations” immediately above the “Net profit/loss”
line item. This item also includes valuation adjustments made
in connection with the measurement in accordance with

IFRS 5, as well as the results of the disposal. The figures for
the previous year have been adjusted accordingly.

Revenue and income

Consolidated financial statements

REVENUE AND INCOME

2023 20227 Change

in€m in€m in %
Traffic revenue 29,926 25,864 16
Other revenue 5,516 5,031 10
Total revenue 35,442 30,895 15
Changes in inventories and
other own work capitalised 727 354 105
Other operating income? 2,260 2,019 12
Total operating income 38,429 33,268 16

" Previous year’s figures adjusted due to sale of LSG group.
2 Without fixed asset write-ups and book gains.

Remuneration report Further information

Traffic increased, traffic revenue up by 16%

Driven by the continued recovery in demand for flights, the
Lufthansa Group’s operating performance improved signifi-
cantly over the course of the 2023 financial year.

Traffic in the Passenger Airlines segment of the Lufthansa
Group rose significantly over the course of the reporting year.
Capacity (available seat-kilometres) was expanded during
2023. In the first quarter, it was 75% of the pre-crisis level in
2019. It then increased to 83% in the second quarter, 88% in
the third quarter and 89% of the pre-crisis level in the fourth
quarter. Over the reporting year as a whole, capacity was
84% of the pre-crisis level (previous year: 72%).

Capacity was increased by 16% on the previous year, and
the number of flights increased by 15%. Sales (revenue seat-
kilometres) grew by 20%. The airlines in the Lufthansa Group
carried around 123 million passengers in total in the 2023
financial year, 20% more than in the previous year. The pas-
senger load factor was up by 3.1 percentage points to 82.9%.
Traffic revenue in the passenger business picked up by 29%
to EUR 26,701m (previous year: EUR 20,705m).

The Lufthansa Group’s cargo business declined in the report-
ing period as the entire sector returned to normal. Capacity
(available cargo tonne-kilometres) was 9% higher than the
previous year due to the increase in belly capacities resulting
from greater demand for passenger flights. Sales (revenue
cargo tonne-kilometres) increased by 2%. The cargo load factor
declined by 3.9 percentage points to 56.4%. Traffic revenue in
the cargo business went down by 37% to EUR 3,225m, mainly
as a result of lower yields (previous year: EUR 5,159m).
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Overall traffic revenue for Lufthansa Group airlines increased
in the reporting year by 16% to EUR 29,926m year-on-year
(previous year: EUR 25,864m).

Further information on the regional breakdown of traffic revenue
for the Passenger Airlines and Logistics segments can be found

in the chapters -> Business segments, p. 52.

BUSINESS SEGMENTS’ SHARE OF GROUP EXTERNAL REVENUE

in %

Additional Businesses

and Group Functions 1

MRO 13

Logistics 8

—— 78 Passenger Airlines
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Other revenue up by 10%

Other revenue improved by 10% year-on-year to EUR 5,516m
(previous year: EUR 5,031m). This was mainly due to the increase
in external business activities and the associated higher revenues
in the MRO and AirPlus business segments.

Revenue up by 15%

Revenue, which consists of traffic revenue plus other revenue,
increased by 15% in the 2023 financial year to EUR 35,442m
(previous year: EUR 30,895m).

Further information on regional distribution of revenue can be
found in the > Notes, Notes to the segment reporting, p. 227.

Changes in inventory and work performed by entity and
capitalised went up by 105% to EUR 727m due to the higher
volume of major maintenance events relating to engines
(previous year: EUR 354m).

Due in particular to higher payments for compensation
received for damages, other operating income improved by
12% to EUR 2,260m (previous year: EUR 2,019m).

Total operating income thus increased by 16% in the 2023
financial year to EUR 38,429m (previous year: EUR 33,268m).

Consolidated financial statements

Remuneration report Further information

Expenses

Cost of materials and services up by 14% due to increased
business activities and inflation-related cost increases
The cost of materials and services for the Lufthansa Group in
the 2023 financial year was 14% higher than in the previous
year at EUR 20,363m (previous year: EUR 17,930m). The
increase was driven by additional business activities and cost
inflation.

Within the cost of materials and services, fuel expenses
increased by 4% to EUR 7,931m (previous year: EUR 7,601m).
This change is based on higher consumption, whereas prices
for crude oil and jet crack (the price difference between crude
oil and kerosene) declined year on year. The result of price
hedging was EUR -172m (previous year: EUR 929m). Currency
effects also reduced the amount of expenses.

LUFTHANSA GROUP ANNUAL REPORT 2023

Expenses for other raw materials, consumables and supplies
and purchased goods went up by 27% to EUR 2,713m (previous
year: EUR 2,142m), particularly in the MRO business segment,
due to increased business activity and inflation effects, as well
as higher expenses for emissions certificates.

Fees and charges swelled by 20% to EUR 4,487m in the
reporting period (previous year: EUR 3,730m), primarily due
to business growth and fee increases at airports.

Expenses for external MRO services also went up by 20% to
EUR 2,104m (previous year: EUR 1,756m) in connection with
increased maintenance requirements.

EXPENSES
2023 20227 Change Share of
operating
expenses
in€m in€m in % in %
Cost of materials and services 20,363 17930 14 57
of which fuel 7931 7,601 4 22
of which fees and charges 4,487 3,730 20 12
of which external services MRO 2,104 1,756 20 6
of which charter expenses 878 855 3 2
Staff costs? 8,310 7,223 15 23
Depreciation 2,228 2,199 1 6
Other operating expenses® 5,059 4,419 14 14
of which staff-related expenses 935 701 33 3
of which rental and maintenance expense 617 510 21 2
Total operating expenses 35,960 31,771 13 100

U Previous year’s figures adjusted due to sale of LSG group.
Without past service costs/settlement. <> T023.

Without impairment losses. = T023.

Without book losses and write-downs on assets held for sale.

oIS

T023.
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As passenger business picked up, there was a 28% increase
in expenses for in-flight services to EUR 980m (previous year:
EUR 768m).

Operating staff costs up by 15%

Operating staff costs of EUR 8,310m in the reporting year
were 15% higher than in the previous year (previous year:
EUR 7,223m). The increase stems particularly from payscale
salary increases as well as the end of short-time work and
special crisis-relief schemes that reduced expenses in the
previous year. The 3% increase in the average number of
employees also had an effect. Adjusted for the number of
employees in the discontinued Catering segment, the
increase came to 6%.

Depreciation and amortisation at same level as in
previous year

Depreciation and amortisation amounted to EUR 2,228m in
the reporting year and were thus at roughly the same level as
in the previous year (previous year: EUR 2,199m). This mainly
related to aircraft and reserve engines (EUR 1,764m, previous
year: EUR 1,709m).

Other operating expenses up by 14%

Other operating expenses rose by 14% to EUR 5,059m (previ-
ous year: EUR 4,419m) in particular due to increased sales and
marketing costs and higher travel expenses for crew following
the expansion of flight operations. This was partly offset by
the decline in foreign currency losses.

Operating expenses up by 13%

Overall, operating expenses for the Lufthansa Group rose by
13% in financial year 2023 to EUR 35,960m (previous year:
EUR 31,771m).

Consolidated financial statements
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Earnings performance

Adjusted EBIT improves to EUR 2.7bn

The operating result from equity investments went up in the
reporting year by 826% to EUR 213m (previous year: EUR 23m).
This trend is mainly based on the improved earnings from the
SunExpress joint venture, which also benefited from a non-
recurring tax effect, and from equity investments in the Addi-
tional Businesses and Group Functions business segment.

Overall, Adjusted EBIT for the Lufthansa Group improved by
76% in financial year 2023 to EUR 2,682m (previous year:
EUR 1,520m). That makes them the third-best earnings in the
history of the Lufthansa Group. The Adjusted EBIT margin,

i.e. the ratio of Adjusted EBIT to revenue, improved by 2.7 per-
centage points to 7.6% (previous year: 4.9%).

Adjusted EBIT in the Passenger Airlines business segment
amounted to EUR 2,033m (previous year: EUR -300m).
Adjusted EBIT in the Logistics segment decreased to EUR
219m (previous year: EUR 1,600m). With an Adjusted EBIT of
EUR 628m, the MRO segment achieved a record result (previ-
ous year: EUR 554m). The other Group companies, which
under IFRS 8 do not require separate reporting, and the Group
Functions reduced the Group’s Adjusted EBIT by a total of
EUR -206m (previous year: EUR -298m).

EBIT of EUR 2.7bn

Based on EBIT, as a key performance indicator Adjusted
EBIT is adjusted for clearly defined, non-plannable earnings
components for the purpose of better comparability. The
adjustments relate to impairment losses and write-backs,
earnings effects from the disposal of non-current assets,
effects of pension plan changes, restructuring expenses in
the form of severance payments, significant costs of legal
proceedings and company transactions not arising in the
normal course of business and other material non-recurring
expenses caused directly by extraordinary external factors.
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DEVELOPMENT OF REVENUE, ADJUSTED EBIT in €m

AND ADJUSTED EBIT MARGIN in %
ADJUSTED EBIT 2023

2,682

Revenue ® Adjusted EBIT
- Adjusted EBIT margin

36,424

13,589

16,811 30,895 35,442

7.6
- 5,451 ~1,666 1,520 |

49

2019 2020 2021 2022 2023

EBIT amounted to EUR 2,669m in the 2023 financial year
(previous year: EUR 1,419m). The difference relative to
Adjusted EBIT was therefore EUR -13m (previous year:
EUR -101m).

The adjustments mainly consist of impairment losses on air-
craft held for sale of EUR 32m, expenses in connection with
the purchase and sale of company divisions of EUR 39m and
expenses from the adjustment of pension plans of EUR 24m.
Book losses of EUR 33m, mainly on aircraft and reserve
engines, were offset by book gains of EUR 134m, in particular
from the sale-and-lease-back transactions for twelve Airbus
A320/321s and the sale of interests in joint ventures. The
adjustments made in the previous year included expenses
directly related to the Russian war of aggression against Ukraine,
and net income resulting from netting restructuring expenses
with the write-back of unused restructuring provisions.
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The result from operating activities came to EUR 2,456m in
the 2023 financial year (previous year: EUR 1,396m).

Financial result of EUR -139m
The financial result came to EUR -139m in financial year 2023
(previous year: EUR -147m).

The result from equity investments included in this figure was
EUR 213m (previous year: EUR 23m).

Net interest also improved to EUR -348m, partly thanks to
lower net indebtedness (previous year: EUR -409m). Due to
the rise in interest rate levels, higher interest expenses for
floating-rate liabilities were more than made up for by higher
interest income on short-term investments. The Group’s
financing strategy of entering into fixed-rate liabilities in the
amount of its net debt thus paid off.
value-based management, p. 23.

Financial strategy and

Other financial items came to EUR -4m (previous year:
EUR 239m). Positive effects from the measurement of the
convertible bond and the strategic liquidity reserve through
profit or loss were offset by negative measurement effects of
hedging transactions. In the previous year there were positive
effects from the convertible bond measurement and the
measurement of strategic interest rate swaps recognised in
profit or loss.

Income taxes came to EUR -380m (previous year:

EUR -239m). The effective tax rate for continuing operations
was 16% (previous year: 23%), primarily due to non-taxable
income and tax effects from prior years

The profit/loss from continuing operations therefore came to
EUR 1,937m (previous year: EUR 1,010m).

Consolidated financial statements

Remuneration report Further information

The profit/loss from discontinued operations relates to the
sale of the LSG group and amounted to EUR -248m (previous
year: EUR -206m). In addition to the segment’s operating
earnings after tax (EUR 53m), it included measurement
effects (after tax) of EUR -85m and the disposal result of
EUR -243m. This includes currency effects of EUR -178m
recognised directly in equity in the past, which were now
realised.

After taking minority interests of EUR -16m (previous year:
EUR -13m) into account, the net profit for the period attribut-
able to the shareholders of Deutsche Lufthansa AG amounted
to EUR 1,673m (previous year: EUR 791m).

Earnings per share came to EUR 1.40 (previous year:
EUR 0.66).
Note 17, p. 192.

Notes to the consolidated financial statements,

PROFIT BREAKDOWN OF THE LUFTHANSA GROUP

2023 20227 Change

in€m in€m in %
Operating income 38,582 33,429 15
Operating expenses - 36,126 -32,033 -13
Profit/loss from operating activities 2,456 1,396 76
Financial result -139 -147 5
Profit/loss before income taxes 2,317 1,249 86
Income taxes -380 -239 59
Profit/loss from continued
operations 1,937 1,010 92
Profit/loss from discontinued
operations -248 -206 -20
Profit/loss after income taxes 1,689 804 10

Profit/loss attributable to minority
interests -16 -13 -23

Net profit/loss attributable
to shareholders of
Deutsche Lufthansa AG

1,673 Al 12

U Previous year’s figures adjusted due to sale of LSG group.

LUFTHANSA GROUP ANNUAL REPORT 2023

Executive Board and Supervisory Board propose dividend
of EUR 0.30 per share

In principle, the Lufthansa Group’s dividend policy is to dis-
tribute to its shareholders 20% to 40% of net profit, adjusted
for non-recurring gains and losses. One condition for the pay-
ment of a dividend is that the net profit for the year as shown
in the individual financial statements of Deutsche Lufthansa
AG that are drawn up under German commercial law allows
for a distribution of the relevant amount. > Financial strategy
and value-based management, p. 23 and Forecast, p. 143.

Deutsche Lufthansa AG reported net profit for the year of
EUR 6,765m for the 2023 financial year. Following the transfer
of EUR 3,382m to retained earnings, distributable profit comes
to EUR 3,383m.

In line with the dividend policy, the Executive Board and
Supervisory Board of Deutsche Lufthansa AG will table a
proposal at the Annual General Meeting on 7 May 2024 to
distribute a dividend of EUR 0.30 per share to shareholders
for financial year 2023. This represents a total dividend of
EUR 359m or 21% of net profit for 2023. The remaining
amount of EUR 3,024m is to be transferred to other retained
earnings.
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RECONCILIATION OF RESULTS

2023 20227
Income Reconciliation Income Reconciliation
in€m statement Adjusted EBIT statement Adjusted EBIT
Total revenue 35,442 30,895
Changes in inventories and work performed by the entity and capitalised 727 354
Other operating income 2,413 2,180
of which book gains et al. -134 -59
of which write-ups on capital assets -4 -2
of which reversal of provisions for restructuring/
M&A projects and material legal disputes -12 -98
of which extraordinary other operating income -3
Total operating income 38,582 -153 33,429 -159
Cost of materials and services -20,378 -17973
of which extraordinary cost of materials and services 16 42
Staff costs -8,344 -7277
of which past service costs/settlement 24 20
of which restructuring costs 10 34
Depreciation, amortisation and impairment -2,242 -2,245
of which impairment losses 14 45
Other operating expenses -5,162 -4,538
of which impairment losses on assets held for sale 32 14
of which expenses incurred from book losses 83 26
of which expenses for material legal disputes = 6
of which expenses for M&A projects 39 37
of which extraordinary other operating expenses -2 36
Total operating expenses -36,126 166 -32,033 260
Profit/loss from operating activities 2,456 1,396
Result from equity investments 213 23
EBIT 2,669 1,419
Total amount of reconciliation Adjusted EBIT 13 101
Adjusted EBIT 2,682 1,520
Depreciation and amortisation 2,228 2,199
Adjusted EBITDA 4,910 3,719

U Previous year’s figures adjusted due to sale of LSG group.

LUF
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Financial position

Impact of the sale of divisions on the financial position
The Lufthansa Group sold the Catering activities of the LSG
group as of 31 October 2023. The Company also signed a
contract in financial year 2023 for the sale of Lufthansa AirPlus
Servicekarten GmbH.

The assets and liabilities of the Catering segment were
reclassified as held for sale as of 31 March 2023. They were
derecognised when the sale closed on 31 October 2023. Due
to the importance of these business activities as an operating
segment, they are shown separately in the income statement
as a discontinued operation.

Following the decision to sell, and under the rules of IFRS 5,
all AirPlus assets and liabilities from the respective individual
items of the statement of financial position were reclassified
to the items “Assets held for sale” and “Liabilities in connection
with assets held for sale” from 30 June 2023.

The consolidated cash flow statement includes both continuing
and discontinued operations. The Catering activities are
therefore included in the consolidated cash flow statement
until 31 October 2023 and the AirPlus activities for the entire
reporting period.

Capital expenditure

Investment volume up on previous year

Compared with the previous year, the Lufthansa Group’s gross
capital expenditure (excluding the purchase of shares) in
financial year 2023 increased by 50% to EUR 3,576m (previous
year: EUR 2,379m).

Primary investment in down payments and final payments
for aircraft, aircraft components, and aircraft and engine
overhauls were up by 55% to EUR 3,200m (previous year:
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EUR 2,067m). This accounts for 89% of total capital expendi-
ture. EUR 1,536m was attributable to advance payments for

future deliveries, particularly for long-haul aircraft (previous
year: EUR 821m).

Capital expenditure for other items of property, plant and
equipment and for intangible assets, known collectively as
secondary investment, increased by 15% to EUR 344m (previ-
ous year: EUR 298m). Property, plant and equipment, such as
technical equipment and machinery, and operating and office
equipment accounted for EUR 238m of the total (previous
year: EUR 217m). EUR 106m (previous year: EUR 81m) was
invested in intangible assets such as licences and software.

Financial investments (excluding share purchases) with a
total volume of EUR 32m (previous year: EUR 14m) mainly
comprised cash outflows from loans to joint-ventures.

Passenger Airlines accounted for the bulk of capital expendi-
ture with EUR 3,095m (+52% year-on-year). > Fleet, p. 27.
Capital expenditure of EUR 191m (- 25% year-on-year) in the
Logistics segment consisted mainly of advance payments for
cargo aircraft. Capital expenditure of EUR 137m in the MRO
business segment (+38%) was mainly for technical operating
equipment.

Outflows for additional repairable spare parts increased by
254% to EUR 506m (previous year: EUR 143m) due to the net
increase in inventories of materials in the MRO segment for
the increased business activity.

Consolidated financial statements

Remuneration report Further information

PRIMARY, SECONDARY AND

FINANCIAL INVESTMENTS in €m’) GROSS CAPITAL
EXPENDITURE
3,576

m Primary investments
® Financial investments

Secondary investments

3559 1273 1329 2,379
32
B 3s 344
14
208
2998 | 24 1 3,200

= 266 2,067
I983 I1,115

2019 2020 2021 2022 2023

U Excluding share purchases.

Aircraft delivered in financial year 2023 or the previous year
and advance payments were sold to external lessors and
leased back for periods of either six or twelve years in financial
year 2023 in the course of sale-and-lease-back transactions
for twelve passenger aircraft and the transfer of a purchase
contract to the lessor of one cargo aircraft. This resulted in
inflows of EUR 690m.

Including payments for replacement parts for aircraft, pro-
ceeds from the sale of assets (aircraft especially) and dividend
and interest income, the Lufthansa Group’s net capital expen-
diture came to EUR 2,811m (previous year: EUR 2,286m).

LUFTHANSA GROUP ANNUAL REPORT 2023

Cash flow

Cash flow from operating activities came to EUR 4,945m
The cash flow from operating activities at the Lufthansa
Group in financial year 2023 was 4% lower than the previous
year at EUR 4,945m (previous year: EUR 5,168m). The decline
is largely due to the lower inflow from changes in working
capital compared to the previous year (EUR 278m, previous
year: EUR 1,694m), which more than offset the increase in
EBITDA. In the previous year, the inflow from changes in
working capital was exceptionally high due to the strong
increase in business activity and the resulting steep increase
in advance payments for fares.

Inflows from the change in working capital were related to
higher liabilities from unused flight documents and liabilities
under customer loyalty programmes (in particular Miles &
More). They increased in the reporting year by EUR 198m (pre-
vious year: EUR 1,514m). Whereas receivables and contract
assets, mainly in the AirPlus and MRO businesses went up by
EUR 258m, liabilities and contract obligations increased by
EUR 552m. Inventories, particularly of technical consumables,
were up by EUR 200m. All items relate to the changes in bal-
ance sheet figures from both continuing operations and the
business held for sale.
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ADJUSTED FREE CASH FLOW 2023
in€m 1,846
4,945 -2,8M 2,134 -319 31

Operating  Net capital ~ Free cash IFRS 16 Purchase/  Adjusted
cash flow expenditure flow effect? sale of free
shares cash flow

U Repayment portion operating lease liabilities in the cash flow from financing

activities.

EUR 662m of the operating cash flow related to payments to
former employees on the basis of pension obligations (previous
year: EUR 748m). In addition, allocations were made to pension
plans in the amount of EUR 472m (previous year: EUR 394m),
while investment income from plan assets of EUR 630m (pre-
vious year: EUR 970m) was used in connection with pension
payments. Cash flowing into or out of the plan assets was
also reported in cash flow from operating activities, resulting
in a net cash outflow of EUR 505m in connection with pen-
sions (previous year: net outflow of EUR 172m).

Adjusted free cash flow comes to EUR 1,846m

Gross capital expenditure (without share purchases) by the
Lufthansa Group came to EUR 3,576m in the reporting year
(previous year: EUR 2,379m) and includes the primary, sec-
ondary and financial investments mentioned above. This was
offset by the increase in repairable spare parts for aircraft of
EUR 506m (previous year: increase of EUR 143m). Expendi-
tures of EUR 33m were made for share purchases (previous
year: EUR 46m).

CASH FLOW AND CAPITAL EXPENDITURE in €m

— Operating cash flow -- Capital expenditure (net)
— Adjusted free cash flow

6,000
T
4,000
N e 28nm
2,000 > — —= 1,846
0
2,000
4,000
2019 2020 2021 2022 2023

Income from the disposal of non-current assets and assets
held for sale of EUR 1,031m (previous year: EUR 175m) mainly
related to the sale of a total of 18 aircraft. Interest and divi-
dend income went up by 155% to EUR 273m (previous year:
EUR 107m), primarily due to higher interest income as a result
of higher interest rates. This brought total net cash used for
investing activities to EUR 2,811m, which was 23% above the
previous year's figure (previous year: EUR 2,286m).

After deducting this net cash used for investing activities,
free cash flow for the 2023 financial year was positive at
EUR 2,134m (previous year: EUR 2,882m).

Adjusted free cash flow decreased by 27% to EUR 1,846m
(previous year: EUR 2,526m). It includes cash outflows for
leases (repayment portion) as shown in cash flow for financing
activities. These came to EUR 319m in the reporting year
(previous year: EUR 381m). Not included in this figure are cash
flows from the purchase or sale of shares in companies, which
amounted to a net figure of EUR - 31m in the reporting year
(previous year: EUR -25m).

LUFTHANSA GROUP ANNUAL REPORT 2023

Financing

Financing activities result in cash outflow of EUR 2,072m
Financing activities in financial year 2023 led to a net cash out-
flow of EUR 2,072m (previous year: outflow of EUR 2,266m).

This resulted from the repayment of financial liabilities
amounting to EUR 1,767m. The liabilities settled consisted
mainly of aircraft financing and leasing (EUR 970m), a euro
bond (EUR 600m) and two borrower’s note loans (EUR 110m).

Interest and dividend payments came to EUR 534m (previous
year: EUR 387m).

On the other hand, the cash inflow from new financing mea-
sures on the capital market amounted to EUR 230m. This was
primarily attributable to asset-backed security (ABS) financing
at AirPlus of EUR 153m and aircraft financing of EUR 53m.

Furthermore, the Lufthansa Group has bilateral credit lines
with banks. At the end of the 2023 financial year, the
revolving credit line amounting to EUR 2.0bn were available.
On 31 December 2023, unused credit lines totalled EUR
2,097m (31 December 2022: EUR 2,119m).
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MATURITY PROFILE OF BORROWINGS
as of 31 Dec 2023 in €m

3,000
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1,000 I I
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2024 2025 2026 2027 2028
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2030

Straight bond
= Convertible bond
Hybrid bond

= Borrower's note loans
(Schuldscheindarlehen)
m Aircraft finance
(secured)
Other?

" Mainly bilateral loans; does not include operating lease payments.

LUFTHANSA GROUP ANNUAL REPORT 2023

Liquidity

Total available liquidity of EUR 10.4bn

Balance-sheet liquidity (total of cash, current securities
and fixed-term deposits) was virtually constant compared
with the end of 2022 at EUR 8,265m (31 December 2022:
EUR 8,301m). Net repayment of financial debt was offset by
positive Adjusted free cash flow of roughly the same amount.
EUR 7,709m was available centrally to Deutsche Lufthansa AG
at year-end 2023 (31 December 2022: EUR 7,087m).

Including its freely available credit lines at year-end 2023, the
Company’s available liquidity thus amounted to EUR 10.4bn
(31 December 2022: EUR 10.4bn).
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ABBREVIATED CASH FLOW STATEMENT OF THE LUFTHANSA GROUP

2023 2022 Change
in€m in %
Profit/loss before income taxes 2,055 1,050 96
Depreciation and amortisation/reversals 2,392 2,444 -2
Net proceeds on disposal of non-current assets 144 -30
Net interest/result from equity investments 133 420 -68
Income tax payments/reimbursements -92 -288 -68
Significant non-cash expenses/income -264 -524 -50
Change in trade working capital 278 1,694 -84
Change in other assets and liabilities 299 402 -26
Operating cash flow 4,945 5,168 -4
Investments and additions to repairable spare parts
and cash outflows for acquisitions of equity investments -415 -2,568 -60
Purchase/disposal of shares/non-current assets 1,031 175 489
Dividends and interest received 273 107 155
Net cash from/used in investing activities -2,81 -2,286 -23
Free cash flow 2,134 2,882 -26
Purchase/disposal of securities/fund investments -170 -1,155 85
Capital increase - - -
Capital reduction - - _
Transactions through minority interests =1 -1 -
Non-current borrowing and repayment of non-current borrowing -1,537 -1,878 -18
Dividends paid -25 -8 -213
Interest paid -509 -379 -34
Net cash from/used in financing activities -2,072 -2,266 9
Changes due to currency translation differences -8 18
Cash and cash equivalents as of 1Jan 1,784 2,305 -23
Cash and cash equivalents as of 31 Dec 1,668 1,784 -7

LUF SROUP ANNUAL REPORT 2023

Net assets

Impact of the sale of divisions on the financial position

In line with IFRS b, the assets and liabilities attributable to
AirPlus have been presented separately in the statement of
financial position as of 31 December 2023 as “Assets held for
sale” and “Liabilities in connection with assets held for sale”.
The disposal of the LSG group reduced the Group’s assets
and liabilities significantly year-on-year. The figures for the
previous year have not been adjusted.

To enable better comparability with the previous year, signifi-
cant effects are quantified in the following comments.

Total assets up by EUR 2.0bn

Total Group assets as of 31 December 2023 increased by
EUR 1,986m over year-end 2022 to EUR 45,321m (31 Decem-
ber 2022: EUR 43,335m).

Non-current assets were up by EUR 1,692m at EUR 29,772m
(31 December 2022: EUR 28,080m). This accounts for

66% of total assets (31 December 2022: 65%). Current assets
rose by EUR 294m to EUR 15,549m (31 December 2022:
EUR 15,255m). Their share of total assets was thus 34%

(31 December 2022: 35%).

Shareholders’ equity was up by EUR 1,235m to EUR 9,709m
(31 December 2022: EUR 8,474m). Altogether, non-current
funding accounted for 56% of total assets (31 December
2022: 59%). Non-current financing covered 86% of non-
current assets (31 December 2022: 91%). Current funding
came to 44% of total assets (31 December 2022: 41%).

048



Company Combined management report

Economic report

Assets

Non-current asset up by EUR 1.7bn

At year-end 2023, non-current assets of EUR 29,772m were
EUR 1,692m higher than at year-end 2022 (31 December
2022: EUR 28,080m).

Aircraft and reserve engines went up by EUR 1,574m and
repairable spare parts for aircraft by EUR 414m. Lending and
other non-current assets (EUR +436m) rose in particular due
to higher measurement-driven surpluses of pension plan
assets and higher stocks of purchased emissions certificates
that do not have to be submitted for the 2024 financial year.
This was offset by measurement effects in derivative financial
instruments (EUR -461m) and a decline in other property,
plant and equipment (EUR -418m) following the disposal of
the Catering segment.

The value of aircraft and reserve engines came to EUR 17,464m
as of year-end 2023 (31 December 2022: EUR 15,890m).
Depreciation and disposals were exceeded by the additions of
new owned aircraft and rights-of-use to leased aircraft (three
Boeing 787s, one Boeing 777F, two Airbus A321Fs, eleven
Airbus A320s and seven Airbus A321s), major maintenance
events and down payments on existing orders. This includes
five Airbus A350s that were not yet ready for service at year-
end 2023. Twelve aircraft from the Airbus A320 family (of which
eight were bought in the financial year) and advance payments
for a Boeing 777F were sold to external lessors and leased
back for periods of either six or twelve years in the course of
sale-and-lease-back transactions. As of 31 December 2023,
the Lufthansa Group fleet consisted of 721 aircraft (31 Decem-
ber 2022: 710 aircraft). -> Fleet, p. 27.
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BALANCE SHEET STRUCTURE ASSETS in €m

in% 45,321

SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY AND LIABILITIES in €m

45,321

Assets 43,335 €m ‘

Aircraft and reserve engines 36.7 +1.8 r 38.5
Other non-current assets 281 ———  -09 F 27.2
Liquid funds and securities 19.2 1.0 F 18.2

Other current assets 16.0 + 0.1 F 16.1

2022 2023

Shareholders’ equity and liabilities 43,335 €m

Shareholders’ equity 19.6

Non-current liabilities 39.6

Current liabilities 40.8 +2.8 43.6

ST————

2022 2023

Current assets up by EUR 294m

Current assets as of 31 December 2023 rose by EUR 294m to
EUR 15,549m (31 December 2022: EUR 15,255m). Non-current
assets in the Catering segment sold in the financial year
came to EUR 381m in the previous year. Inventories rose by a
total of EUR 149m, essentially in the MRO segment. Before
the reclassification of businesses held for sale, trade and
other receivables increased by EUR 761m, whereas derivative
financial instruments decreased by EUR 424m, particularly
due to the lower US dollar exchange rate.

The increase in assets held for sale (EUR +790m year-on-year)
is attributable to the assets of AirPlus (EUR 1,109m), of which
a total of EUR 81m related to previously non-current assets.
The sale of six Airbus A380s led to a reduction in the previous
year’s figure of EUR 315m.

Shareholders’ equity and liabilities

Shareholders’ equity up by EUR 1.2bn, equity ratio rises to
21.4%

Shareholders equity climbed by EUR 1,235m compared with
year-end 2022 to EUR 9,709m as of 31 December 2023 (31
December 2022: EUR 8,474m), primarily due to profits for finan-
cial year 2023 (EUR +1,673m) and positive currency transla-
tion effects recognised directly in equity (EUR +270m.) They
were offset by measurement effects in pensions (EUR
-355m) and financial instruments (EUR - 353m) that were
recognised in equity.

The equity ratio therefore increased by 1.8 percentage points
compared with year-end 2022 to 21.4% (31 December 2022:
19.6%).
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DEVELOPMENT OF EARNINGS, EQUITY, EQUITY RATIO
AND RETURN ON EQUITY

2023 2022 2021 2020 2019

Profit/loss

after income

taxes” £€m 1,689 804 -2193 -6,766 1,245
Equity? €m 9,709 8,474 4,490 1,387 10,256
Equity ratio? % 21.4 19.6 10.6 3.5 24.0
Return on

equity” % 17.4 9.5 -48.8 -4878 121

U Including minority interests.

Non-current liabilities and provisions decrease by

EUR 1.3bn year-on-year

Non-current provisions and liabilities were down by EUR
1,291m to EUR 15,862m (31 December 2022: EUR 17,153m).

Non-current borrowing of EUR 11,055m was EUR 2,215m
lower than at year-end 2022 (31 December 2022: EUR
13,270m). This decline is mainly based on maturity reclassifi-
cations and reclassifications for the AirPlus business held
for sale and disposals from the sale of the LSG group, partly
offset by new financing measures.

Net pension obligations, i.e. pension provisions less asset
surpluses at some pension plans, which are presented sepa-
rately in non-current assets, increased by EUR 683m to

Remuneration report Further information

EUR 2,676m (31 December 2022: EUR 1,993m). Pension pro-
visions were up by EUR 826m to EUR 2,895m (31 December
2022: EUR 2,069m). The interest rate used to discount pen-
sion obligations in Germany and Austria decreased signifi-
cantly by 0.6 percentage points to 3.6%, and in Switzerland
by 1.0 percentage point to 1.4%. The negative effect that this
had on the obligations was partly offset by the positive
measurement effect in plan assets.

Current liabilities and provisions up by EUR 2.0bn
Current provisions and liabilities went up by EUR 2,042m to
EUR 19,750m as of 31 December 2023 (31 December 2022:
EUR 17,708 m).

Non-current liabilities and provisions in the Catering segment
sold in the financial year came to EUR 436m in the previous
year. The overall rise was mitigated primarily by the increase in
current financial debt (EUR +1,007m) due to maturity reclassi-
fications and the increase in liabilities in connection with
assets held for sale (EUR +670m), partly offset by the decline
in derivative financial instruments (EUR -226m). Adjusted for
the reclassification of businesses held for sale, trade and
other liabilities increased by EUR 585m.

Liabilities of EUR 670m in connection with AirPlus assets
held for sale mainly consisted of current financial debt and
liabilities from the settlement of the credit card business.

LUFTHANSA GROUP ANNUAL REPORT 2023

Net indebtedness down by EUR 1.2bn on the previous year
At year-end 2023, positive free cash flow brought net indebt-
edness down to EUR 5,682m, a reduction of EUR 1,189m on
year-end 2022 (31 December 2021: EUR 6,871m).

The sum of net indebtedness and net pension obligations in
relation to shareholders’ equity, was 46:54 as of 31 December
2023 (31 December 2022: 51:49).

Adjusted net debt, the sum of net indebtedness and net pen-
sion obligations less 50% of the hybrid bond issued in 2015,
was down by EUR 506m compared with year-end 2022 to
EUR 8,11m (31 December 2022: EUR 8,617m).

The ratio of Adjusted net debt/Adjusted EBITDA was thus
1.7 (previous year: 2.3).
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CALCULATION OF NET INDEBTEDNESS

in€m 2023 2022 Change
in %
Bonds -6,224 -6,659 7
Liabilities to banks -1143 -1,242 8
Credit lines -21 -
Aircraft financing -3,802 -4,407 14
Leasing liabilities -2,568 -2,443 -5
Other financial debt -185 -400 54
Financial liabilities -13,943 -15,151 8
Other bank borrowing -4 -21 81
Group indebtedness -13,947 -15,172 8
Cash and cash equivalents
(4-12 months) 1,865 1,790 4
Securities 6,400 6,511 -2
Net indebtedness -5,682 -6,871 17
Pension provisions -2,895 -2,069 -40
Pension surpluses 219 76 188
Net pension obligation -2,676 -1,993 -34
Net indebtedness and
net pension obligations -8,358 -8,864 6

Remuneration report Further information

OVERALL STATEMENT BY THE
EXECUTIVE BOARD ON THE ECONOMIC
POSITION

Financial year 2023 was defined by a further recovery in demand
for passenger flights after the coronavirus pandemic.

In particular due to the significant rise in demand for passenger
flights in 2023, the Lufthansa Group increased its capacities
to 84% of the pre-crisis level and its revenue increased by 15%
year-on-year. Adjusted EBIT was 76% up on the previous year
at EUR 2.7bn.

Its positive earnings performance was driven by the Passenger
Airlines and MRO segments. SWISS, Austrian Airlines, Brussels
Airlines, Eurowings and Lufthansa Technik achieve record results.
The latter benefited from significantly higher demand for
maintenance and repair services due to higher demand for pas-
senger flights. The Lufthansa Group’s cargo business declined
in financial year 2023 as the entire sector returned to normal.

LUFTHANSA GROUP ANNUAL REPORT 2023

In view of the positive earnings performance in the reporting
year, the Executive Board and Supervisory Board will table
a proposal at the Annual General Meeting to distribute a
dividend of EUR 0.30 per share for the financial year 2023.

The Lufthansa Group also further strengthened its balance
sheet and reduced its debt in the reporting year. Liquidity
was at the same level as last year, which is significantly higher
than before the crisis. The Company has therefore built itself
back stronger and has an even more stable base to cope with
future crises.

Overall, the Lufthansa Group thus registered an extremely
positive operating and financial performance in the reporting
year. The Executive Board is confident that the Lufthansa
Group will maintain this trend and continue to build on its posi-
tion as Europe’s leading airline group.
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Consolidated financial statements

m Passenger Airlines drives fleet modernisation
and expands product and service range.

m The focus is on sustainability activities.

m Strong demand for passenger travel supports
operating performance.

m Passenger Airlines achieves Adjusted EBIT of
EUR 2bn.

m SWISS, Austrian Airlines, Brussels Airlines and
Eurowings report record results.

m | ufthansa Cargo modernises freight centre
and continues digitalisation.

m Adjusted EBIT at Lufthansa Cargo falls to EUR
219m due to normalisation of the airfreight
market.

m | ufthansa Technik benefits from the strong
demand for maintenance and repair services.

m | ufthansa Technik launches Ambition 2030
growth programme.

m Adjusted EBIT at Lufthansa Technik reached a
record EUR 628m.

m | .SG group sold to Aurelius.
m Sale of AirPlus to SEB Kort Bank agreed.

Remuneration report Further information

PASSENGER AIRLINES BUSINESS
SEGMENT

KEY FIGURES PASSENGER AIRLINES

2023 2022 Change
in %
Revenue €m 28,337 22,760 25
of which
traffic revenue €m 26,701 20,705 29
Operating income €m 29,643 23,785 25
Operating expenses €m 27,730 24,100 15
Adjusted EBITDA €m 3,758 1,466 156
Adjusted EBIT €m 2,033 -300
EBIT €m 2,064 -279
Adjusted EBIT
margin % 7.2 -1.3 8.5 pts
Adjusted ROCE % 19.4 -2.8 22.2 pts
Segment capital
expenditure €m 3,095 2,032 52
Employees
as of 31 Dec number 60,924 56,762 7
Average number
of employees number 59,331 56,054 6
Business activities

Passenger Airlines offers their customers a differentiated
and high-quality product

The Passenger Airlines segment includes Lufthansa Airlines,
SWISS, Austrian Airlines, Brussels Airlines and Eurowings,
whose results are also reported individually.

The network carriers Lufthansa Airlines, SWISS, Austrian Air-
lines and Brussels Airlines offer their customers a premium
experience, with high-quality products and services. The multi-
hub strategy offers passengers a comprehensive route net-
work along with the greatest possible flexibility for their journey.

LUFTHANES
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Eurowings is positioned as a value carrier with an exclusive
focus on point-to-point traffic on European short- and
medium-haul routes.

The Passenger Airlines segment also includes the regional air-
lines Lufthansa CityLine, Lufthansa City Airlines, Air Dolomiti,
Edelweiss Air, Discover Airlines and the equity investment in
SunExpress, the joint venture with Turkish Airlines.

Moreover, commercial joint ventures with leading international
airlines extend the Passenger Airlines route network. Commercial
joint ventures exist with United Airlines and Air Canada on
routes between Europe and North America, and with All Nippon
Airways (ANA), Singapore Airlines and Air China on routes
between Europe and Japan as well as Singapore and China
respectively. In addition, numerous code-share agreements
are in place.

Course of business

Fleet modernisation continues
The Passenger Airlines are driving forward with modernising
and unifying their fleets. Older aircraft models are being
retired and new, efficient aircraft with lower fuel needs and
less carbon emissions are joining the fleet. The capital
expenditure in modern and particularly fuel-efficient aircraft
and engine technologies is currently the most important
lever for reducing carbon emissions in flight operations.
Combined non-financial declaration/Environmental concerns/
Climate protection p. 79.

The Lufthansa Group decided in March 2023 to order ten new
Airbus A350-1000, five A350-900 and seven Boeing 787-9
Dreamliner long-haul aircraft. They are due to be delivered from
the middle of the decade onwards. At list prices, the overall
order volume is around USD 7.5bn and is in line with the Group’s
medium-term financial planning. The Lufthansa Group
ordered another four A350-900s in May 2023.
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The Lufthansa Group entered into an agreement for the sale
and lease-back of twelve short- and medium-haul aircraft in
December 2023. The aircraft are currently operated by Lufthansa
Airlines, Lufthansa CityLine and Eurowings.

In addition, the Lufthansa Group ordered 80 cutting-edge short-
and medium-haul aircraft in December 2023. These were

40 Airbus A220-300s and 40 Boeing 737-8 MAXs. The aircraft
are expected to be delivered between 2026 and 2032. The
confirmed order for 80 aircraft is worth around EUR 9bn at list
prices. The aircraft will enter service in various flight opera-
tions at the Lufthansa Group. Purchase options were also agreed
for another 20 A320-300s, 60 B737-8 MAXs and 40 aircraft
from the A320 family.

At the end of the 2023 financial year, the Passenger Airlines
fleet had a total of 700 aircraft (previous year: 692 aircraft).
Fleet, p. 27.

Further expansion of product and services

Lufthansa Group Passenger Airlines are continuing to expand
their product range in line with customer expectations. Cus-
tomers will thus be offered a wider choice of relevant individ-
ually selectable product components as well as an improved
travel experience on board and on the ground, in the premium
segment in particular. This includes fitting Lufthansa Airlines
and SWISS aircraft with Allegris and SWISS Senses product
generation seating which will offer a new travel experience

in every class on long-haul routes. Austrian Airlines is also to
get a new long-haul cabin when the Boeing 787 Dreamliner
is introduced.

Consolidated financial statements

Remuneration report Further information

Customers with Lufthansa Group Travel ID or a Miles & More
account will also have better internet availability on board,
and so be able to use short messaging services free of charge
on an unlimited basis. All customers will continue to have
access to new service options in the expanded in-flight enter-
tainment programme and to all the services of the Lufthansa
Group apps during the flight.

The culinary range will also be upgraded in the spirit of a
premium service. There is also a focus on improvements to
customer service, e.g. the enhanced accessibility of call
centres, and expanded digital service channels.

Sustainability activities intensified

The Lufthansa Group continues to expand its portfolio of sus-
tainable travel offerings. It became the first airline group in
the world to offer its own “green fares” throughout Europe in
February 2023. They enable passengers to fly more sustainably
in the whole of Europe and North Africa, because they already
include offsets for the carbon emissions of the flight.

The use of sustainable aviation fuels accounts for 20% of the
offsets, with 80% coming from high-quality climate protection
projects implemented by the non-profit organisation mycli-
mate in Germany and other countries.

The green fares will also be extended to long-haul routes. From
November 2023, they have been available on a trial basis on
twelve selected routes.

Details of additional Passenger Airlines sustainability activities
can be found in the following chapters about the individual
airlines and in the > Combined non-financial declaration p. 73.
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Operating performance

Operating performance shaped by ongoing recovery in
demand

In the 2023 financial year, the operating performance of the
Lufthansa Group’s Passenger Airlines segment significantly
improved year-on-year due to the continued increase in demand
for air travel and higher yields.

The Passenger Airlines’ available capacity was continuously
expanded over the course of the reporting year in line with the
recovery in demand. In the first quarter, it was 75% of the
pre-crisis level in 2019. It then increased to 83% in the second
quarter, 88% in the third quarter and 89% of the pre-crisis level
in the fourth quarter.

Overall, available capacity in the 2023 financial year was at 84%
of the pre-crisis level and 16% higher than in the previous year.
The number of flights increased by 15% year-on-year. Sales rose
by